OBSTRUCTIONS TO REPRESENTATIONS UP TO HOMOTOPY AND IDEALS

M. JOTZ LEAN

ABSTRACT. This paper considers the Pontryagin characters of graded vector bundles of finite rank, in the cohomology vector spaces of a Lie algebroid over the same base. These Pontryagin characters vanish if the graded vector bundle carries a representation up to homotopy of the Lie algebroid. As a consequence, this gives a strong obstruction to the existence of a representation up to homotopy on a graded vector bundle of finite rank. In particular, if a graded vector bundle $E[0] \oplus F[1] \to M$ carries a 2-term representation up to homotopy of a Lie algebroid $A \to M$, then all the (classical) A-Pontryagin classes of E and F must coincide.

This paper generalises as well Bott's vanishing theorem to the setting of Lie algebroid representations (up to homotopy) on arbitrary vector bundles. As an application, the main theorems induce new obstructions to the existence of infinitesimal ideal systems in a given Lie algebroid.

Keywords: Lie algebroids, representations up to homotopy, connections up to homotopy, Pontryagin classes, graded vector bundles, Bott vanishing theorem, infinitesimal ideal systems, fibrations of Lie algebroids.

MSC2010: Primary: 53B05, 57R20, 57R22. Secondary: 53D17

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
Obstructions to the existence of <i>n</i> -representations	2
Bott's vanishing theorems and obstructions to the existence of ideals in Lie	
algebroids	4
Outline of the paper	5
Outlook	6
Acknowledgements	6
2. Preliminaries	6
2.1. Notation and vector-valued forms	6
2.2. Linear connections on vector bundles, and vector valued forms	7
2.3. A-Pontryagin characters of a vector bundle	8
3. Bott's vanishing theorem in a more general setting	10
3.1. Bott's vanishing theorem	10
3.2. Reducible vector bundles – a short discussion	12
3.3. Bott's vanishing theorem and the Atiyah class	13
4. Pontryagin algebras of graded vector bundles	14
4.1. The graded trace operator	14
4.2. Connections up to homotopy	15
4.3. Curvature of a connection up to homotopy, and Pontryagin characters	17

Date: November 25, 2019.

M. JOTZ LEAN

4.4. Application: Obstructions to the existence of an <i>n</i> -representation	19
4.5. Bott's vanishing theorem for graded vector bundles	23
5. Infinitesimal ideal systems and Pontryagin classes	24
5.1. Pontryagin classes associated to an infinitesimal ideal system	25
5.2. Finer obstructions	26
Appendix A. Proof of Proposition 4.6	27
References	27

1. INTRODUCTION

Representations up to homotopy of Lie algebroids were found by Arias Abad and Crainic [2] to be a convenient geometric setting for defining the adjoint representation of a Lie algebroid. They showed in [1] that the *adjoint representation up* to homotopy is the right notion of adjoint of a Lie algebroid since it can be used to define its Weil algebra. The precursor notion of strong homotopy representation could be found already much earlier in [38], in the context of constrained Poisson algebras – incidentally, in the study of *ideals* in constrained Poisson algebras. Further, 2-term representations up to homotopy are *super-representations* in the sense of Quillen [35].

Gracia-Saz and Mehta found in [17] that these 2-representations are equivalent to splittings of VB-algebroids. This latter insight in particular led in the last ten years to advances in the study of VB-algebroids with an additional geometric structure – see [8], [20, 23], [21, 22], [16], [27], [14], [36] among others. Representations up to homotopy, in particular 2-representations, were further richly studied in e.g. [5], [7], [32], [39], [3], [25], [4].

Obstructions to the existence of *n***-representations.** Recall the definition of an *n*-term representation up to homotopy [2], also called *flat superconnection* in [17] following [35], but named here *n*-representation for short.

Definition ([2, 17]). Let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid. Then an *n*-representation of A is a graded vector bundle $\underline{E} = E_0[0] \oplus \ldots \oplus E_{n-1}[n-1] \to M$ with an operator

 $\mathcal{D}\colon \Omega(A,\underline{E})_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A,\underline{E})_{\bullet+1}$

that increases the total degree by 1 and satisfies $\mathcal{D}^2 = 0$ as well as

(1) $\mathcal{D}(\omega \wedge \eta) = \mathbf{d}_A \omega \wedge \eta + (-1)^l \omega \wedge \mathcal{D}\eta$

for $\omega \in \Omega^{l}(A)$ and $\eta \in \Omega(A, \underline{E})_{\bullet}$.

An *n*-connection (or *n*-term connection up to homotopy) of a Lie algebroid A on a graded vector bundle $\underline{E} = E_0[0] \oplus \ldots \oplus E_{n-1}[n-1] \to M$ is defined to be an operator \mathcal{D} as in the definition above, but without the condition $\mathcal{D}^2 = 0$, see e.g. [35, 17, 31].

The A-Pontryagin classes of a vector bundle E measure "the failure of E to have a flat A-connection" – or in other words to carry a representation of A. Therefore, it is natural to ask if there are *characteristic classes of a graded vector bundle* $\underline{E} = E_0[0] \oplus \ldots \oplus E_{n-1}[n-1] \to M$ that measure its failure to carry an *n*-representation of a Lie algebroid A.

 $\mathbf{2}$

This paper explores the fact that the Chern-Weil construction of Pontryagin characters carries over almost word by word to the setting of *n*-connections, if the graded trace on End(\underline{E}) replaces the trace on endomorphisms of an ordinary vector bundle [35, 31]. In short, given an *n*-connection, its curvature \mathcal{D}^2 is (graded) $\Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ -linear and "equals" a form $R_{\mathcal{D}} \in \Omega(A, End(\underline{E}))_{\bullet}$ of total degree 2. The graded trace $\widehat{\operatorname{str}}(R^l_{\mathcal{D}})$ of the *l*-th power of this form is just an element of $\Omega^{2l}(A)$, with $\mathbf{d}_A\left(\widehat{\operatorname{str}}(R^l_{\mathcal{D}})\right) = 0$, hence defining a cohomology class

$$\left[\widehat{\operatorname{str}}(R^l_{\mathcal{D}})\right] \in H^{2l}(A),$$

called here the *l*-th Pontryagin character of the graded vector bundle. These classes, for $l \ge 1$, do not depend on the choice of the *n*-connection on \underline{E} , and they generate together the *A*-Pontryagin algebra of the graded vector bundle \underline{E} , as an \mathbb{R} -subalgebra of $H^{\bullet}(A)$. Obviously the *A*-Pontryagin algebra of \underline{E} vanishes if \underline{E} carries an *n*-representation of *A*.

A connection $\nabla \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(\underline{E}) \to \Gamma(\underline{E})$ that preserves the grading is an example of an *n*-connection of A on \underline{E} . Therefore the generators above of $\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{\bullet}(\underline{E})$ are alternating sums of the classical Pontryagin characters of the terms E_i of E, $i = 0, \ldots, n-1$. This immediately yields the following theorem, which seems to have been overlooked so far in the literature.

Theorem 1. Let $\underline{E} = E_0[0] \oplus \ldots \oplus E_{n-1}[n-1]$ be a graded vector bundle over a smooth manifold M, and let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid. If there exists an nrepresentation \mathcal{D} of A on \underline{E} , then the Pontryagin characters $\sigma_A^l(E_i)$, l > 1, of the vector bundles E_i , $i = 0, \ldots, n-1$, satisfy the equations

(2)
$$\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} (-1)^i \sigma_A^l(E_i) = 0 \in H^{2l}(A)$$

for all l > 1.

In particular, for a graded vector bundle with grading concentrated in degrees 0 and 1, this theorem gives a simple obstruction to the existence of a 2-representation (see Theorem 4.13 below).

Theorem 2. Let E and F be smooth vector bundles over M, and let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid. If there is a 2-representation of A on $E[0] \oplus F[1]$, then the A-Pontryagin classes of E and F are equal:

$$p_A^l(E) = p_A^l(F) \in H^l(A)$$

for all $l \geq 1$.

Using the adjoint representation up to homotopy of a Lie algebroid $A \to M$, which is a 2-representation of A on $A[0] \oplus TM[1]$, this yields the following result.

Theorem 3. Let A be a vector bundle over a smooth manifold M, and let $\rho: A \to TM$ be a vector bundle morphism over the identity. If $A \to M$ carries a Lie algebroid structure with anchor ρ , then the Pontryagin classes of A and TM satisfy

$$\rho^{\star}\left(p^{\iota}(A)\right) = \rho^{\star}\left(p^{\iota}(TM)\right) \in H^{\iota}(A)$$

for all $l \geq 1$.

This is in fact a special case of the following theorem, which is proved using a similar method.

Theorem 4. Let A and B be Lie algebroids over M. If there is a Lie algebroid morphism $\partial: B \to A$ over the identity on M, then

$$\partial^* p_A^l(A) = p_B^l(A) = p_B^l(B) = \partial^* p_A^l(B) \in H^l(B)$$

for all $l \geq 1$.

Bott's vanishing theorems and obstructions to the existence of ideals in Lie algebroids. The starting point of this paper is actually Bott's vanishing theorem [6] on Pontryagin classes and foliations:

Theorem ([6]). Let M be a smooth manifold and let F_M be a subbundle of codimension q of TM. If F_M is involutive, then the Pontryagin spaces

$$\operatorname{Pont}^{l}(TM/F_M) \subseteq H^{l}(M)$$

of TM/F_M are all trivial for l > 2q.

Since an involutive subbundle $F_M \subseteq TM$ is always represented on the normal bundle TM/F_M via the Bott connection [6], this theorem is a special case of the following result (see Theorem 3.1).

Theorem 5. Let E be a smooth vector bundle over a smooth manifold M and let Abe a Lie algebroid over M. If there exists a Lie subalgebroid B of A of codimension q with a linear representation $\nabla \colon \Gamma(B) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$, then the A-Pontryagin spaces

$$\operatorname{Pont}_A^l(E) \subseteq H^l(A)$$

are all trivial for l > 2q.

The generalisation of this theorem to the setting of Pontryagin algebras of a graded vector bundle is given by Theorem 4.19. Although it does not yet lead to additional obstruction results for particular examples, its proof is given in detail for completeness and future applications.

The author's original motivation for proving Theorem 5 is her search for topological obstructions to the existence of ideals in Lie algebroids. Jointly with Ortiz, the author identified in [27] what they consider the "right notion" of ideals in Lie algebroids. These objects are called *infinitesimal ideal systems* and defined as follows.

Definition ([27],[18]). Let $(q: A \to M, \rho, [\cdot, \cdot])$ be a Lie algebroid, $F_M \subseteq TM$ an involutive subbundle, $J \subseteq A$ a subbundle over M such that $\rho(J) \subseteq F_M$, and ∇ a flat partial F_M -connection on A/J with the following properties:

- (1) If $a \in \Gamma(A)$ is ∇ -parallel¹, then $[a, j] \in \Gamma(J)$ for all $j \in \Gamma(J)$.
- (2) If $a, b \in \Gamma(A)$ are ∇ -parallel, then [a, b] is also ∇ -parallel. (3) If $a \in \Gamma(A)$ is ∇ -parallel, then $\rho(a)$ is ∇^{F_M} -parallel, where

 $\nabla^{F_M} : \Gamma(F_M) \times \Gamma(TM/F_M) \to \Gamma(TM/F_M), \quad \nabla^{F_M}_X \bar{Y} = \overline{[X,Y]}$

is the Bott connection associated to F_M .

Then the triple (F_M, J, ∇) is an infinitesimal ideal system in A.

¹A section $a \in \Gamma(A)$ is said to be ∇ -parallel if $\nabla_X \bar{a} = 0$ for all $X \in \Gamma(F_M)$. Here, \bar{a} is the class of a in $\Gamma(A/J) \simeq \Gamma(A)/\Gamma(J)$.

The first axiom implies immediately that $J \subseteq A$ is a subalgebroid of A. Infinitesimal ideal systems are an infinitesimal version of the *ideal systems* in [19, 29] – the latter are exactly the kernels of fibrations of Lie algebroids [19]. Infinitesimal ideal systems already appear in [18] (not under this name) in the context of geometric quantization as the infinitesimal version of polarizations on groupoids. Moreover, the special case where $F_M = TM$ has been studied independently in [12] in relation with a modern approach to Cartan's work on pseudogroups.

Consider an involutive subbundle $F_M \subseteq TM$ and the Bott connection $\nabla^{F_M}: \Gamma(F_M) \times \Gamma(TM/F_M) \to \Gamma(TM/F_M)$ associated to it. Then the triple (F_M, F_M, ∇^{F_M}) is an infinitesimal ideal system in the Lie algebroid TM. Therefore, Bott's vanishing theorem provides an obstruction result for this particular class of infinitesimal ideal systems. The general goal of this paper is to find adequate generalisations of Bott's vanishing theorem, yielding obstructions to the existence of infinitesimal ideal systems in a given Lie algebroid $A \to M$ – in terms of the Pontryagin classes of A and TM.

The following result (see Propositions 5.4 and 5.5) gives the first set of information that can be extracted from Theorem 5 and the definition of an infinitesimal ideal system.

Proposition 1.1. Let (F_M, J, ∇) be an infinitesimal ideal system in a Lie algebroid $A \to M$. Let s be the codimension of J in A and let q be the codimension of F_M in TM. Then

- (1) the Pontryagin spaces $\operatorname{Pont}^{l}(A/J)$ and $\operatorname{Pont}^{l}(TM/F_{M})$ in $H^{\bullet}(M)$ all vanish for l > 2q, and
- (2) the Pontryagin spaces $\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{l}(A/J)$ and $\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{l}(TM/F_{M})$ in $H^{\bullet}(A)$ all vanish for $l > 2\min\{s,q\}$.

However, this result turns out to be rather unsatisfactory on its own because it uses only very few of the axioms of an infinitesimal ideal system: (1), (2) and (3) in the definition are not used in the proof of this proposition. These three axioms ensure [14] that an infinitesimal ideal system in a Lie algebroid $A \to M$ defines a subrepresentation $J[0] \oplus F_M[1]$ of the adjoint representation up to homotopy of A on $A[0] \oplus TM[1]$, after the choice of a suitable connection. Theorem 2 hence translates this fact to the context of A-Pontryagin classes of F_M and J. More precisely, the results in [14] and Theorem 2 lead to further obstructions to the existence of an infinitesimal ideal system in a Lie algebroid A (see Theorem 5.6):

Theorem 6. Let $(A \to M, \rho, [\cdot, \cdot])$ be a Lie algebroid. If (F_M, J, ∇) is an infinitesimal ideal system in A, then

$$p_A^l(J) = p_A^l(F_M)$$

for all $l \geq 1$.

Outline of the paper. Section 2 recalls in detail the Chern-Weil construction of the Pontryagin classes of a vector bundle, using the powerful modern language exposed in [13]. The author recommends here as well the reference [40], which summarises in a beautiful manner the construction of characteristic classes associated to vector bundles and principal bundles, as well as some of their applications in geometry and topology.

Section 3 proves the first generalisation of Bott's vanishing theorem in [6], and proves a refinement of it in the case where an appropriate Atiyah class vanishes.

M. JOTZ LEAN

Section 4 studies connections up to homotopy and the Pontryagin algebras of graded vector bundles of finite rank. The obstruction to the existence of representations up to homotopy is also proved there, as well as Bott's vanishing theorem for graded vector bundles.

Section 5 finally applies the prior results to the study of characteristic classes defined by infinitesimal ideal systems in Lie algebroids.

Outlook. The construction of the A-Pontryagin algebra of a graded vector bundle presented here can be extended to a construction of the $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{Q})$ -Pontryagin algebra of a graded vector bundle, for a Lie *n*-algebroid $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{Q})$. This is the subject of a project in progress that is joint with Papantonis.

Acknowledgements. The author warmly thanks her student Jannick Rönsch for writing his Bachelor thesis about Section 2.2 and Theorem 5, which could already be found in an earlier draft of this article. The review of his thesis, as well as the supervision meetings, were a source of motivation for the author to continue her preliminary work on this project.

Finally, the author thanks Theocharis Papantonis for his careful reading, Thomas Schick for inspiring discussions, and Jim Stasheff for useful comments.

2. Preliminaries

This section recalls the modern definition of Pontryagin classes of a vector bundle. It begins with some background on linear connections on vector bundles and the associated calculus on differential forms. The second subsection recalls the definition of the Pontryagin classes of a vector bundle. In this section, the main reference is [13], but A-Pontryagin classes of a vector bundle were defined in [15].

2.1. Notation and vector-valued forms. Given a Lie algebroid $A \to M$, the Lie algebroid cohomology defined by the complex $(\Omega^{\bullet}(A), \mathbf{d}_A)$ is written $H^{\bullet}(A)$. For simplicity, $H^{\bullet}(M)$ is the (de Rham) cohomology of the standard Lie algebroid $TM \to M$.

Let A be a Lie algebroid over a smooth manifold M and let $E \to M$ be a smooth vector bundle. Then $\Omega^{\bullet}(A, E) := \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}A^* \otimes E)$. If A = TM is the standard tangent Lie algebroid, then $\Omega^{\bullet}(TM, E)$ is written $\Omega^{\bullet}(M, E)$ for simplicity. The degree of a (degree-homogeneous) element ω of $\Omega^{\bullet}(A, E)$ is written $|\omega| \in \mathbb{N}$.

For $K \in \Omega^{l}(A, \operatorname{Hom}(E, E'))$, the graded $\Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ -linear operator $\widehat{K} \colon \Omega^{\bullet}(A, E) \to \Omega^{\bullet+l}(A, E')$ is defined by $\widehat{K}(\omega) = K \wedge \omega$, i.e.

$$\widehat{K}(\omega)(a_1,\ldots,a_{s+l}) = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{(l,s)}} (-1)^{\sigma} K(a_{\sigma(1)},\ldots,a_{\sigma(l)})(\omega(a_{\sigma(l+1)},\ldots,a_{\sigma(l+s)}))$$

for $\omega \in \Omega^s(A, E)$ and $a_1, \ldots, a_{s+l} \in \Gamma(A)$. Here, $\mathfrak{S}_{(l,s)}$ is the set of (l, s)-shuffles, i.e. the permutations $\sigma \in S_{l+s}$ such that $\sigma(1) < \ldots < \sigma(l)$ and $\sigma(l+1) < \ldots < \sigma(l+s)$.

The space of graded- $\Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ -linear operators $\Omega(A, E) \to \Omega(A, E')$ is denoted by $\operatorname{Hom}_{\Omega(A)}^{\bullet}(\Omega(A, E), \Omega(A, E'))$. That is, an element \mathcal{K} of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\Omega(A)}^{s}(\Omega(A, E), \Omega(A, E'))$, for $s \geq 0$, is a map $\mathcal{K} \colon \Omega^{\bullet}(A, E) \to \Omega^{\bullet+s}(A, E')$ satisfying $\mathcal{K}(\omega \wedge \eta) = (-1)^{s \cdot |\omega|} \omega \wedge \mathcal{K}(\eta)$ for all $\omega \in \Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ and $\eta \in \Omega^{\bullet}(A, E)$. The map $\Omega^{\bullet}(A, \operatorname{Hom}(E, E')) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\Omega(A)}^{\bullet}(\Omega(A, E), \Omega(A, E'))$ given by $K \mapsto \widehat{K}$ is a bijection [2], with inverse sending $\mathcal{K} \colon \Omega^{\bullet}(A, E) \to \Omega^{\bullet+s}(A, E')$ to $\mathcal{K}_0 \in \Omega^s(A, \operatorname{Hom}(E, E'))$ defined by

$$\mathcal{K}_0(a_1,\ldots,a_s)(e) = \mathcal{K}(e)(a_1,\ldots,a_s)$$

for $a_1, \ldots, a_s \in \Gamma(A)$ and $e \in \Gamma(E) = \Omega^0(A, E)$.

Let now $\underline{E} = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} E_z[z]$ be a graded vector bundle over M. As always, the $\Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ -module of \underline{E} -valued forms $\Omega(A, \underline{E})_{\bullet}$ has a total grading given by deg $\eta = j + l$ for $\eta \in \Omega^j(A, E_l)$. Here also, there is a bijection between elements $K \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\underline{E}, \underline{F}))_s$ and graded- $\Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ -linear operators $\mathcal{K} \colon \Omega(A, \underline{E})_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A, \underline{F})_{\bullet+s}$ that increase the total degree by s. An element $K \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\underline{E}, \underline{F}))_s$ can be written

$$K = \sum_{i=0}^{s} \sum_{j-l=s-i} K^{i,l,j} \in \bigoplus_{i=0}^{s} \bigoplus_{j-l=s-i} \Omega^{i}(A, \operatorname{Hom}(E_{l}, F_{j})).$$

The corresponding $\widehat{K} \in \operatorname{End}_{\Omega^{\bullet}(A)}(\Omega(A,\underline{E}),\Omega(A,\underline{E}))_s$ is given by

$$\widehat{K} = \sum_{i=0}^{s} \sum_{j-l=s-i} \widehat{K^{i,l,j}},$$

with $\widehat{K^{i,l,j}}: \Omega^{\bullet}(A, E_l) \to \Omega^{\bullet+i}(A, F_j)$ defined as before. The inverse to the map $\widehat{\cdot}$ is easily defined as above.

Finally, the graded commutator of degree-homogeneous elements $K_1, K_2 \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_{\bullet}$ can now be defined by

$$[\widehat{K_1, K_2}] = \left[\widehat{K_1}, \widehat{K_2}\right] = \widehat{K_1} \circ \widehat{K_2} - (-1)^{|K_1| \cdot |K_2|} \widehat{K_2} \circ \widehat{K_1}.$$

2.2. Linear connections on vector bundles, and vector valued forms. Let $E \to M$ be a vector bundle, and let $(A \to M, \rho, [\cdot, \cdot])$ be a Lie algebroid over the same base. Then a linear A-connection $\nabla \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$ is equivalent to an operator $\mathbf{d}_{\nabla} \colon \Omega^{\bullet}(A, E) \to \Omega^{\bullet+1}(A, E)$ satisfying

(3)
$$\mathbf{d}_{\nabla}(\omega \wedge \eta) = (\mathbf{d}_A \omega) \wedge \eta + (-1)^l \omega \wedge \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} \eta$$

for $\omega \in \Omega^{l}(A)$ and $\eta \in \Omega^{\bullet}(A, E)$. Given ∇ , the operator \mathbf{d}_{∇} is defined by (3) and by

$$\mathbf{d}_{\nabla} e = \nabla \cdot e \in \Omega^1(A, E)$$

for $e \in \Gamma(E) = \Omega^0(A, E)$. For instance, if $E = \mathbb{R} \times M$ with the canonical flat Aconnection $\nabla_a f = \pounds_{\rho(a)}(f)$, then $\Omega^{\bullet}(A, E) \simeq \Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ and $\mathbf{d}_{\nabla} =: \mathbf{d}_A$, which satisfies in addition $\mathbf{d}_A^2 = 0$ and defines the Lie algebroid cohomology $H^{\bullet}(A)$. In general,

$$\mathbf{d}_{\nabla}^2 = \widehat{R_{\nabla}} \colon \Omega^{\bullet}(A, E) \to \Omega^{\bullet+2}(A, E),$$

with $R_{\nabla} \in \Omega^2(A, \operatorname{End}(E))$ the curvature tensor of ∇ .

Let E and E' be vector bundles over M, and let ∇ and ∇' be linear A-connections on E and E', respectively. The reader is invited to check (see also [13]) that for $K \in \Omega^s(A, \operatorname{Hom}(E, E'))$,

(4)
$$\mathbf{d}_{\nabla'} \circ \widehat{K} - (-1)^s \widehat{K} \circ \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\mathrm{Hom}}} K,$$

M. JOTZ LEAN

where ∇^{Hom} : $\Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(\text{Hom}(E, E')) \to \Gamma(\text{Hom}(E, E'))$ is defined by $(\nabla_a^{\text{Hom}} \phi)(e) = \nabla'_a(\phi(e)) - \phi(\nabla_a e)$ for $a \in \Gamma(A)$ and $e \in \Gamma(E)$. If E = E' and $\nabla = \nabla'$, then

(5)
$$\left[\mathbf{d}_{\nabla}, \widehat{K}\right] = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} \circ \widehat{K} - (-1)^k \widehat{K} \circ \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} = \widehat{\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\mathrm{End}}} K}.$$

The trace operator tr: $\Gamma(\operatorname{End}(E)) \to C^{\infty}(M)$ can be understood as an element of $\Omega^{0}(A, \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{End}(E), \mathbb{R}))$, and so defines as above an $\Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ -linear map $\widehat{\operatorname{tr}}: \Omega^{\bullet}(A, \operatorname{End}(E)) \to \Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ that preserves the degree.

Equip $\mathbb{R} \times M$ as above with the flat A-connection $\pounds : \Gamma(A) \times C^{\infty}(M) \to C^{\infty}(M)$, and the vector bundle $\operatorname{End}(E)$ with the connection induced by $\nabla : \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$. Then the induced connection

$$\nabla^{\operatorname{Hom}} \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{End}(E), \mathbb{R})) \to \Gamma(\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{End}(E), \mathbb{R}))$$

applied to the trace operator reads

$$(\nabla_{a}^{\operatorname{Hom}}\operatorname{tr})(\phi) = \pounds_{\rho(a)}(\operatorname{tr}(\phi)) - \operatorname{tr}\left(\nabla_{a}^{\operatorname{End}}\phi\right)$$

for $a \in \Gamma(A)$ and $\phi \in \Gamma(\text{End}(E))$.

Lemma 2.1. With the choices of connections above, $\nabla_a^{\text{Hom}} \text{tr} = 0$ for all $a \in \Gamma(A)$.

Proof. Take a local frame (e_1, \ldots, e_k) of E over an open set $U \subseteq M$ and consider the dual local frame $(\epsilon_1, \ldots, \epsilon_k)$ of E^* . It is easy to see that for each $i, j = 1, \ldots, k$ and each $a \in \Gamma_U(A)$:

$$(\nabla_{a}^{\operatorname{Hom}}\operatorname{tr})(e_{i}\otimes\epsilon_{j}) = \pounds_{\rho(a)}(\delta_{ij}) - \operatorname{tr}(\nabla_{a}^{\operatorname{End}}(e_{i}\otimes\epsilon_{j})) = -\sum_{s=1}^{k} \langle\epsilon_{s}, \nabla_{a}^{\operatorname{End}}(e_{i}\otimes\epsilon_{j})(e_{s})\rangle$$
$$= -\sum_{s=1}^{k} \langle\epsilon_{s}, \nabla_{a}(\delta_{js}e_{i}) - \langle\epsilon_{j}, \nabla_{a}e_{s}\rangle e_{i}\rangle$$
$$= -\langle\epsilon_{j}, \nabla_{a}e_{i}\rangle + \langle\epsilon_{j}, \nabla_{a}e_{i}\rangle = 0.$$

Lemma 2.1 and (4) yield the equality

(6)
$$\mathbf{d}_A \circ \widehat{\mathrm{tr}} = \widehat{\mathrm{tr}} \circ \mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\mathrm{End}}} \colon \Omega^{\bullet}(A, \mathrm{End}(E)) \to \Omega^{\bullet+1}(A).$$

2.3. A-Pontryagin characters of a vector bundle. As before, consider a Lie algebroid $A \to M$, and a vector bundle $E \to M$ of rank k, with a linear A-connection $\nabla \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$. Let $R_{\nabla} \in \Omega^2(A, \operatorname{Hom}(TM, A))$ be the curvature of ∇ . Define for $i \geq 1$ the form $R^i_{\nabla} \in \Omega^{2i}(A, \operatorname{End}(E))$ by

$$\widehat{R^i_{\nabla}} = \widehat{R_{\nabla}}^i = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla}^{2i} \in \operatorname{End}_{\Omega^{\bullet}(A)}(\Omega^{\bullet}(A, E))$$

Then (5) shows $\widehat{\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\text{End}}}R_{\nabla}^{i}} = \left[\mathbf{d}_{\nabla}, \widehat{R_{\nabla}^{i}}\right] = \left[\mathbf{d}_{\nabla}, \mathbf{d}_{\nabla}^{2i}\right] = 0$, and so with (6):

(7)
$$\mathbf{d}_A(\widehat{\mathrm{tr}}(R^i_{\nabla})) = \widehat{\mathrm{tr}}(\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\mathrm{End}}}R^i_{\nabla}) = 0.$$

Therefore, $\widehat{\operatorname{tr}}(R^i_{\nabla})$ defines a cohomology class in $H^{2i}(A)$.

Lemma 2.2. Let $E \to M$ be a vector bundle and let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid. Then the chomology class $[\widehat{tr}(R^i_{\nabla})] \in H^{2i}(A)$ does not depend on the choice of A-connection ∇ on E, for $i \geq 1$. This proof is standard; in the context of Lie algebroid Pontryagin classes, it is due to [15] following a classical method. The proof is omitted here, but done later in the more general setting of Pontryagin algebras defined by connections up to homotopy (see Proposition 4.6, and Appendix A); in the same manner as in [35] for superconnections.

Definition 2.3. Let E be a vector bundle over M and let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid.

- (1) Choose any linear A-connection ∇ on E. The cohomology classes $\sigma_A^i(E) := [\widehat{\operatorname{tr}}(R_{\nabla}^i)] \in H^{2i}(A)$, for $i \geq 1$, are called the A-Pontryagin characters of E.
- (2) The A-Pontryagin algebra of E is the \mathbb{R} -subalgebra $\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{\bullet}(E) \subseteq H^{\bullet}(A)$ generated by the A-Pontryagin characters.

The Pontryagin algebra is also called the *characteristic algebra* in [40]. It is easy to see that $\operatorname{Pont}_A^l(E) = 0$ for l an odd number. It is a standard fact that even $\operatorname{Pont}_A^l = 0$ for l not divisible by 4. For completeness, Bott's proof of this fact [6] is quickly recalled here. Equip the vector bundle E with a smooth metric (i.e. a positive definite fibrewise pairing), and take the A-connection $\nabla \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(E) \to$ $\Gamma(E)$ to be *metric*: $\langle \nabla_a e, e' \rangle + \langle e, \nabla_a e' \rangle = \pounds_{\rho(a)} \langle e, e' \rangle$ for $a \in \Gamma(A), e, e' \in \Gamma(E)$. Then it is easy to check that $\langle R_{\nabla}(a, b)e, e' \rangle = -\langle e, R_{\nabla}(a, b)e' \rangle$ for all $a, b \in \Gamma(A)$, $e, e' \in \Gamma(E)$, and inductively

$$\langle R_{\nabla}^{i}(a_{1}, b_{1}, a_{2}, b_{2}, \dots, a_{i}, b_{i})e, e' \rangle = (-1)^{i} \langle e, R_{\nabla}^{i}(a_{1}, b_{1}, a_{2}, b_{2}, \dots, a_{i}, b_{i})e' \rangle$$

for $i \geq 1$. Then immediately $\widehat{\operatorname{tr}}(R^i_{\nabla}) = 0$ for i odd, and so $\operatorname{Pont}_A^{2i}(E) = 0$ for i odd.

Finally, the *A*-Pontryagin classes of the vector bundle *E* can be defined; see e.g. [40] for detailed explanations. Consider $Gl(k, \mathbb{R})$ -invariant polynomial functions $p: \mathfrak{gl}(k, \mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}$, i.e. such that for all $g \in Gl(k, \mathbb{R})$ and $X \in \mathfrak{gl}(k, \mathbb{R})$

$$p(gXg^{-1}) = p(X).$$

The $Gl(k, \mathbb{R})$ -invariant polynomials on $\mathfrak{gl}(k, \mathbb{R})$ form an \mathbb{R} -algebra, which is generated as an \mathbb{R} -algebra by the polynomials $\Sigma_0, \Sigma_1, \ldots$ defined by

$$\Sigma_i(X) = \operatorname{trace}(X^i)$$

for all $X \in \mathfrak{gl}(k,\mathbb{R})$ (see for instance [6]). It follows from Definition 2.3 that each $\operatorname{Gl}(k,\mathbb{R})$ -invariant polynomial p on $\mathfrak{gl}(k,\mathbb{R})$ defines a closed form $p(R_{\nabla}) \in \Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ and an element $[p(R_{\nabla})] \in H^{\bullet}(A)$. More precisely, if $p = q(\Sigma_{i_1}, \ldots, \Sigma_{i_l}) \in \mathbb{R}[\Sigma_1, \Sigma_2, \ldots]$, then

$$p(R_{\nabla}) = q(\Sigma_{i_1}(R_{\nabla}), \dots, \Sigma_{i_l}(R_{\nabla})).$$

For instance, $p = \Sigma_2 - (\Sigma_1)^2$ gives $p(R_{\nabla}) = \widehat{\operatorname{tr}}(R_{\nabla}^2) - \widehat{\operatorname{tr}}(R_{\nabla}) \wedge \widehat{\operatorname{tr}}(R_{\nabla})$. This defines the Chern-Weil morphism of \mathbb{R} -algebras

$$\operatorname{cw}_A(E)\colon \operatorname{Sym}^{\bullet}(\mathfrak{gl}(k,\mathbb{R}))^{\operatorname{Gl}(k,\mathbb{R})} \to H^{2\bullet}(A), \qquad p \mapsto [p(R_{\nabla})].$$

The \mathbb{R} -subalgebra $\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{\bullet}(E) \subseteq H^{\bullet}(A)$ is the image of this morphism, i.e. the subalgebra of all cohomology classes $[p(R_{\nabla})]$ defined by $\operatorname{Gl}(k,\mathbb{R})$ -invariant polynomial p on $\mathfrak{gl}(k,\mathbb{R})$.

For i a positive integer, the characteristic polynomial

(8)
$$\det \left(\lambda \cdot I_k + X\right) = \sum_{i=0}^k f_i(X) \lambda^{k-i}$$

defines homogeneous polynomials f_i of degree i on $\mathfrak{gl}(k,\mathbb{R})$, for $k \ge i \ge 0$. These polynomials are obviously $\operatorname{Gl}(k,\mathbb{R})$ -invariant, and so for each $i \ge 1$, the *i*-th *A*-**Pontryagin class of** *E* can be defined as

$$p_A^i(E) := \left[f_{2i}\left(\frac{i}{2\pi}R_{\nabla}\right) \right] \in H^{4i}(A),$$

for any choice of connection $\nabla \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$. The *A*-Pontryagin classes of *E* generate together Pont[•]_A(*E*) (see for instance [6]). The **total** *A*-**Pontryagin class of** *E* is defined by

$$p_A(E) = \left[\det\left(I_k + \frac{i}{2\pi} R_{\nabla}\right) \right] = 1 + p_A^1(E) + p_A^2(E) + \ldots + p^{\lfloor \frac{k}{2} \rfloor} \in \operatorname{Pont}_A^{\bullet}(E).$$

Remark 2.4. Given an ordinary linear connection $\nabla \colon \mathfrak{X}(M) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$ on a vector bundle *E* of rank *k*, a Lie algebroid $A \to M$ defines a linear *A*-connection $\nabla^A \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$ by $\nabla^A_a e = \nabla_{\rho(a)} e$. It is easy to see that

$$[p(R_{\nabla^A})] = \rho^*[p(R_{\nabla})] \in H^{\bullet}(A)$$

for any $\operatorname{Gl}(k,\mathbb{R})$ -invariant polynomial p on $\mathfrak{gl}(k,\mathbb{R})$. Here, ρ^{\star} is the cochain map

$$p^{\star} \colon (\Omega^{\bullet}(M), \mathbf{d}) \to (\Omega^{\bullet}(A), \mathbf{d}_A),$$

 $\rho^{\star}(\omega)(a_1,\ldots,a_s) = \omega(\rho(a_1),\ldots,\rho(a_s))$ for $\omega \in \Omega^s(M)$ and $a_1,\ldots,a_s \in \Gamma(A)$. As observed by Fernandes in [15], this yields $\operatorname{Pont}_A^{\bullet}(E) = \rho^{\star}(\operatorname{Pont}^{\bullet}(E))$, or more precisely $\operatorname{cw}_A(E) = \rho^{\star} \circ \operatorname{cw}(E)$.

3. Bott's vanishing theorem in a more general setting

This section rephrases Bott's proof of the vanishing Pontryagin classes of the normal bundle to an involutive subbundle of the tangent [6]. Since the decisive object is the Bott connection, i.e. a flat F_M -connection on a smooth vector bundle TM/F_M , that can be extended to a linear TM-connection in order to define Pontryagin characters or classes, one can easily prove a similar result for the existence of a flat partial connection on a general smooth vector bundle. Further, the construction is adapted to the more general A-Pontryagin classes of a vector bundle E.

3.1. Bott's vanishing theorem. Let A be a Lie algebroid over a smooth manifold M, and let B be a subalgebroid of A over M. Let n be the rank of A, and let q be the codimension of B in A. Let E be a smooth vector bundle over M, with a flat B-connection ∇ . It is not difficult to see that ∇ can be extended to an A-connection $\tilde{\nabla}: \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$, satisfying

(9)
$$\tilde{\nabla}_b e = \nabla_b e$$

for all $b \in \Gamma(B)$ and $e \in \Gamma(E)$.

Define the space $I^{\bullet}(B) \subseteq \Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ as the ideal in $\Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ generated by the 1-forms vanishing on B. That is, it is generated by the sections of the *annihilator* $B^{\circ} \subseteq A^{*}$ of B. It is explicitly given by $I^{0}(B) = \{0\} \subseteq \Omega^{0}(A) = C^{\infty}(M)$ and

$$I^{r}(B) = \{ \omega \in \Omega^{r}(A) \mid \omega(b_{1}, \dots, b_{r}) = 0 \text{ for all } b_{1}, \dots, b_{r} \in \Gamma(B) \}$$

for $r \geq 1$.

Choose an open set $U \subseteq M$ trivialising A and B. That is, there is a smooth frame (a_1, \ldots, a_n) for A over U such that (a_{q+1}, \ldots, a_n) is a smooth frame for B.

Consider the dual frame $(\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n)$ of A^* over U. By construction, $(\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_q)$ is a smooth frame for B° over U. Since $I^{\bullet}(B)$ is generated as an ideal by $\Gamma(B^\circ)$, for $r \geq 1$, an element ω of $I_U^r(B)$ can be written as

$$\omega = \sum_{i=1}^{q} \omega_i \wedge \alpha_i$$

with $\omega_i \in \Omega_U^{r-1}(A)$. Therefore, since B° has rank q, the wedge product

$$(I^{\bullet}(B))^{q+1} = \underbrace{I^{\bullet}(B) \land \ldots \land I^{\bullet}(B)}_{q+1 \text{ times}}$$

must necessarily vanish.

It is now easy to see that (9) implies

$$R_{\tilde{\nabla}}(b,b')e = R_{\nabla}(b,b')e = 0$$

for $b, b' \in \Gamma(B)$ and all $e \in \Gamma(E)$, and so $R_{\tilde{\nabla}} \in I^2(B) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(M)} \Gamma(\text{End}(E))$. This implies $R_{\tilde{\nabla}}^i \in (I^2(B))^i \otimes_{C^{\infty}(M)} \Gamma(\text{End}(E))$ and so $\widehat{\operatorname{tr}}(R_{\tilde{\nabla}}^i) \in (I^2(B))^i$. More generally, for p a $\operatorname{Gl}(k, \mathbb{R})$ -invariant polynomial of degree d on $\mathfrak{gl}(k, \mathbb{R})$, the 2d-form $p(R_{\nabla}) \in \Omega^{2d}(A)$ is an element of $(I^2(B))^d$ and so $p(R_{\nabla}) = 0$ for d > q.

As a summary, this section has proved the following result.

Theorem 3.1. Let E be a smooth vector bundle over a smooth manifold M and let A be a Lie algebroid over M. If there exists a Lie subalgebroid B of A of codimension q with a linear representation $\nabla \colon \Gamma(B) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$, then the Pontryagin spaces

$$\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{l}(E) \subseteq H^{l}(A)$$

are all trivial for l > 2q.

Using Remark 2.4, this yields the following obstruction result in terms of the classical Pontryagin spaces of E.

Corollary 3.2. Let E be a smooth vector bundle over a smooth manifold M and let A be a Lie algebroid over M. If there exists a Lie subalgebroid B of A of codimension q with a linear representation $\nabla \colon \Gamma(B) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$, then the Pontryagin spaces

 $\operatorname{Pont}^{l}(E) \subseteq H^{l}(M)$

all lie in the kernel of $\rho^* \colon H^{\bullet}(M) \to H^{\bullet}(A)$ for l > 2q.

If a Lie algebroid A has a subalgebroid B of codimension q; then B is represented on A/B via the flat Bott-connection

$$\nabla^B \colon \Gamma(B) \times \Gamma(A/B) \to \Gamma(A/B), \quad \nabla^B_b \bar{a} = \overline{[b,a]}.$$

Hence $\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{l}(A/B) \subseteq H^{l}(A)$ is trivial for l > 2q. This yields obstructions to a subalgebroid structure on $B \subseteq A$ of codimension q.

However, in the case A = TM and $B = F_M$, the algebroid F_M is in fact more than just a subalgebroid: it carries as well an infinitesimal ideal system (F_M, F_M, ∇^{F_M}) [27]. The goal of this paper is the generalisation of Bott's vanishing theorem [6] as a statement on ideals. 3.1.1. Massey products. As already emphasised in [6], Theorem 3.1 shows more than the vanishing of the Pontryagin classes $p_A^l(E)$ for l > 2q. It shows the vanishing of all A-characteristic classes of E defined by invariant polynomials of degree d > q. In [37], Bott's vanishing theorem is refined as we explain now in our general setting.

Let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid and $[\alpha], [\beta], [\gamma] \in H^{\bullet}(A)$ be classes such that

$$[\alpha] \wedge [\beta] = 0$$
 and $[\beta] \wedge [\gamma] = 0.$

Then $\alpha \wedge \beta = \mathbf{d}_A \omega$ and $\beta \wedge \gamma = (-1)^{|\alpha|} \mathbf{d}_A \eta$ for some forms ω and $\eta \in \Omega^{\bullet}(A)$. As a consequence, $\mathbf{d}_A(\omega \wedge \gamma) = \alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \gamma = \mathbf{d}_A(\alpha \wedge \eta)$, which shows that the class

$$\langle [\alpha], [\beta], [\gamma] \rangle := [\omega \land \gamma - \alpha \land \eta] \in H^{\bullet}(A)$$

is defined. As mentioned in [6], this is called the **Massey triple product** [30] of $[\alpha], [\beta], [\gamma] \in H^{\bullet}(A)$; it is well-defined up to an element of $I^{\bullet}([\alpha], [\gamma]) \subseteq H^{\bullet}(A)$, the ideal generated by $[\alpha]$ and $[\gamma]$.

Consider the situation of Theorem 3.1 and take any three classes $[\alpha]$, $[\beta]$ and $[\gamma]$ in Pont[•]_A(E) such that $|\alpha| + |\beta| > 2q$ and $|\beta| + |\gamma| > 2q$. Then $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ can be chosen $\alpha = p_{\alpha}(R_{\nabla}), \beta = p_{\beta}(R_{\nabla})$ and $\gamma = p_{\gamma}(R_{\nabla})$ for ∇ as in the proof of Theorem 3.1 and $p_{\alpha}, p_{\beta}, p_{\gamma}$ Gl (k, \mathbb{R}) -invariant polynomials on $\mathfrak{gl}(k, \mathbb{R})$ of degrees $|\alpha|/2, |\beta|/2$ and $|\gamma|/2$, respectively – where k is the rank of E. Then by definition, $\alpha \wedge \beta = (p_{\alpha} \cdot p_{\beta})(R_{\nabla})$, which must vanish by the proof of Theorem 3.1 and $|\alpha| + |\beta| > 2q$, and in the same manner $\beta \wedge \gamma = 0$. Then by definition, $\langle [\alpha], [\beta], [\gamma] \rangle = 0$. This proves the following theorem, which is attributed to Shulman in [6].

Theorem 3.3. Let E be a smooth vector bundle over a smooth manifold M and let A be a Lie algebroid over M. If there exists a Lie subalgebroid B of A of codimension q with a linear representation $\nabla \colon \Gamma(B) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$, then for all $[\alpha], [\beta] \text{ and } [\gamma] \text{ in Pont}^{\bullet}_{A}(E)$ such that $|\alpha| + |\beta| > 2q$ and $|\beta| + |\gamma| > 2q$,

$$\langle [\alpha], [\beta], [\gamma] \rangle = 0.$$

3.2. Reducible vector bundles – a short discussion. Consider a fibration of vector bundles

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
E & \stackrel{\phi}{\longrightarrow} & E' \\
 q_E & & & & & \\
 q_E & & & & & \\
 M & \stackrel{\phi}{\longrightarrow} & M'
\end{array}$$

i.e. a fibrewise surjective vector bundle morphism ϕ over a smooth surjective submersion f. Assume that E and E' have the same rank, so that ϕ restricted to each fibre is a bijection. If f has connected fibres, then M' can be identified with the leaf space of the involutive subbundle $T^f M := \ker(Tf) \subseteq TM$ and the morphism ϕ defines a flat $T^f M$ -connection [27] $\nabla \colon \Gamma(T^f M) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$ by

$$\nabla_X e = 0$$
 for all $X \in \Gamma(T^f M)$: $\Leftrightarrow \exists e' \in \Gamma(E') : \phi \circ e = e' \circ f$.

That is, the ∇ -flat sections of E are the sections of E that are ϕ -projectable to sections of E'.

Conversely, consider a smooth vector bundle $E \to M$, an involutive subbundle $F_M \subseteq TM$ and a flat connection $\nabla \colon \Gamma(F_M) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$. If F_M is simple and

13

 ∇ has no holonomy, then they induce a fibration of vector bundles [27]



where E/∇ is the quotient of E by parallel transport.

We say that E is q-reducible if there is a fibration of vector bundles

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
E & \stackrel{\phi}{\longrightarrow} & E' \\
 q_E & & & & \downarrow \\
 q_E & & & \downarrow \\
 M & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} & M'
\end{array}$$

such that dim M' = q and rank $E = \operatorname{rank} E'$. Then the Pontryagin classes of E of degree greater than q must necessarily vanish. This is because the Gauss map g_E of E then factors as $g_E = g_{E'} \circ f$, and so $\operatorname{Pont}^{\bullet}(E) = f^* \operatorname{Pont}^{\bullet}(E')$. Therefore, in that case, Bott's vanishing theorem (Theorem 3.1) is satisfied even with q as lower bound.

Pontryagin classes are invariants of a vector bundle, that vanish if it is trivializable. In particular, the Pontryagin classes of E of rank k all vanish if there is a smooth morphism of vector bundles



that restricts to an isomorphism on each fibre. The consideration above shows that much finer geometrical information can be extracted from Pontryagin classes, and that they could be seen as obstructions to (constant rank) fibrations to low dimensional manifolds. For instance, if $\text{Pont}^{l}(E) \neq \{0\}$ for some $l \geq 4$, then the vector bundle E is not 1-reducible, and if $\text{Pont}^{l}(E) \neq \{0\}$ for some l > 4, then the vector bundle E is not 2-reducible, etc.

3.3. Bott's vanishing theorem and the Atiyah class. If $E \to M$ has a flat F_M -connection, but F_M is not simple or the holonomy of ∇ is not trivial, then the vector bundle E still is "infinitesimally symmetric along F_M ", but we can only prove Bott's vanishing theorem with lower bound 2q. However, following ideas by Molino [34] (see also [28]), Theorem 3.1 holds with the lower bound q instead of 2q if the *Atiyah class* of the connection vanishes. On the other hand, the new, more general version of Bott's vanishing theorem in Theorem 3.1, might be useful in the search for examples where E has a flat F_M -connection, with F_M of codimension q, but its k-th Pontryagin class does not vanish for some $k > \frac{q}{2}$.

Let A be a Lie algebroid over a smooth manifold M, and let B be a subalgebroid of A over M, of codimension q. Let E be a smooth vector bundle over M, as before with a flat *B*-connection ∇ . Take again an extension $\nabla \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$ of ∇ as in (9). Then the form $\omega_{\tilde{\nabla}} \in \Omega^1(B, \operatorname{Hom}(A/B, \operatorname{End}(E)))$ is defined by

$$\omega_{\tilde{\nabla}}(b,\bar{a})(e) = R_{\tilde{\nabla}}(b,a)e.$$

The flat *B*-connection ∇ on *E* and the flat Bott-connection $\nabla^B \colon \Gamma(B) \times \Gamma(A/B) \to \Gamma(A/B)$ combine to a flat *B*-connection ∇^{Hom} on Hom(A/B, End(E)), and then $\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\text{Hom}}} \omega_{\tilde{\nabla}} = 0$ [34, 9, 24].

The class $\alpha_{\nabla} = [\omega_{\tilde{\nabla}}] \in H^1(B, \operatorname{Hom}(A/B, \operatorname{End}(E)))$ is called the **Atiyah class** of the representation of $B \subseteq A$ on E. It does not depend on the choice of the extension $\tilde{\nabla}$ of ∇ , and it is zero if and only if there is an extension $\tilde{\nabla}$ such that $R_{\tilde{\nabla}}(b, a) = 0$ for all $b \in \Gamma(B)$ and all $a \in \Gamma(A)$ [34, 9, 24]. That is, $\alpha_{\nabla} = 0$ if and only if there is an extension $\tilde{\nabla}$ such that $R_{\tilde{\nabla}} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 B^\circ \otimes \operatorname{End}(E))$.

Then for all $l \geq 1$ the form $\widehat{\operatorname{tr}}(R^l_{\widetilde{\nabla}})$ is a section of $\wedge^{2l} B^\circ$ and so $\widehat{\operatorname{tr}}(R^l_{\widetilde{\nabla}}) = 0$ for 2l > q. This shows the following theorem.

Theorem 3.4. Let E be a smooth vector bundle over a smooth manifold M and let A be a Lie algebroid over M. If there exists a Lie subalgebroid B of A of codimension q with a linear representation $\nabla \colon \Gamma(B) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$ with vanishing Atiyah class $\alpha_{\nabla} \in H^1(B, \operatorname{Hom}(A/B, \operatorname{End}(E)))$, then the Pontryagin spaces

$$\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{l}(E) \subseteq H^{l}(A)$$

are all trivial for l > q.

If A = TM, $B = F_M$, and ∇ is defined by a fibration to a vector bundle over M/F_M as in the previous section, then the Atiyah class α_{∇} vanishes (see [24]). With Section 3.2, this yields the following corollary.

Corollary 3.5. Let *E* be a smooth vector bundle over a smooth manifold *M*. If there exists an involutive subbundle F_M of *TM* of codimension *q* with a flat connection $\nabla: \Gamma(F_M) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$ such that

$$\begin{array}{c|c} E & \xrightarrow{\pi} & E/\nabla \\ & & & \downarrow^{[q_E]} \\ & & & \downarrow^{[q_E]} \\ M & \xrightarrow{\pi_M} & M/F_M \end{array}$$

is a smooth fibration of vector bundles, then the Atiyah class $\alpha_{\nabla} \in H^1(F_M, \operatorname{Hom}(TM/F_M, \operatorname{End}(E)))$ vanishes and the Pontryagin spaces $\operatorname{Pont}^l(E) \subseteq H^l(M)$ are all trivial for l > q.

4. Pontryagin algebras of graded vector bundles

This section studies connections up to homotopy on graded vector bundles, and explains how Pontryagin or characteristic algebras are defined by those objects, in the same manner as the classical Pontryagin algebras of a vector bundle are defined by linear connections on it [35, 31].

4.1. The graded trace operator. In the following, consider a Lie algebroid $(A \to M, \rho, [\cdot, \cdot])$, and a graded vector bundle $\underline{E} = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} E_z[z]$ over the same smooth manifold M, with grading concentrated in finitely many degrees (i.e. all but finitely many of the vector bundles $E_z, z \in \mathbb{Z}$ are trivial).

The graded trace operator str: $\Gamma(\underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E})) \to C^{\infty}(M)$, i.e.

$$\operatorname{str} \in \Omega^0(A, \operatorname{Hom}(\underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E})_0, \mathbb{R}))$$

is defined by

$$\operatorname{str}(\phi) = (-1)^i \operatorname{tr}(\phi)$$

for $\phi \in \Gamma(\operatorname{End}(E_i))$. It yields a (graded) $\Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ -linear map

$$\operatorname{gtr}: \Omega(A, \operatorname{\underline{End}}(\underline{E}))_{\bullet} \to \Omega^{\bullet}(A).$$

The operator str vanishes by definition on $\Omega^{\bullet}(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E})_i)$ for all $i \neq 0$, and so only 'sees' the part $\Omega^{\bullet}(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E})_0)$ of $\Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_{\bullet}$.

The signs are chosen such that for $K_1 \in \Omega^0(A, \operatorname{Hom}(E_i, E_j)) = \Gamma(\operatorname{Hom}(E_i, E_j))$ and $K_2 \in \Omega^0(A, \operatorname{Hom}(E_j, E_i)) = \Gamma(\operatorname{Hom}(E_j, E_i))$, i.e. with compositions $K_1 \circ K_2 \in \Gamma(\operatorname{End}(E_j))$ and $K_2 \circ K_1 \in \Gamma(\operatorname{End}(E_i))$:

$$\operatorname{str}(K_1 \circ K_2) = (-1)^j \operatorname{tr}(K_1 \circ K_2) = (-1)^j \operatorname{tr}(K_2 \circ K_1)$$
$$= (-1)^{i+j} \operatorname{str}(K_2 \circ K_1) = \operatorname{str}((-1)^{(j-i)(i-j)} K_2 \circ K_1)$$
$$= \operatorname{str}((-1)^{|K_1| \cdot |K_2|} K_2 \circ K_1)$$

since i + j and $(j - i)(i - j) = 2ij - j^2 - i^2$ have the same parity. That is, (10) $\operatorname{str}[K_1, K_2] = 0$

for $K_1 \in \Gamma(\operatorname{Hom}(E_i, E_j))$ and $K_2 \in \Gamma(\operatorname{Hom}(E_j, E_i))$. More generally, this yields

(11)
$$\widehat{\operatorname{str}}([K_1, K_2]) = 0$$

for $K_1, K_2 \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_{\bullet}$, see also [35].

4.2. Connections up to homotopy. The notion of superconnection dates back to Quillen [35]. Connections up to homotopy appeared in [17] in the more recent literature. The notion of connection up to homotopy defined by Crainic in [10, 11] is a different² one.

Let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid and let $\underline{E} \to M$ a graded vector bundle of finite rank, i.e. the grading is concentrated in finitely many degrees. Then a **connection up to homotopy** of A on \underline{E} is an operator

$$\mathcal{D}\colon \Omega(A,\underline{E})_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A,\underline{E})_{\bullet+1}$$

that increases the total degree by 1 and satisfies

(12)
$$\mathcal{D}(\omega \wedge \eta) = \mathbf{d}_A \omega \wedge \eta + (-1)^{|\omega|} \omega \wedge \mathcal{D} \eta$$

for $\omega \in \Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ and $\eta \in \Omega(A, \underline{E})_{\bullet}$.

If $\underline{E} = E_0[0] \oplus \ldots \oplus E_{n-1}[n-1]$, then a connection up to homotopy of A on \underline{E} is called for simplicity **an** *n*-connection. Of course, an *n*-connection \mathcal{D} is an *n*-representation, i.e. an *n*-term representation up to homotopy in the sense of [2], if in addition $\mathcal{D}^2 = 0$.

²There, a connection up to homotopy on a 2-term complex (E, ∂) of vector bundles

$$E^0 \stackrel{\partial}{\underset{\partial}{\hookrightarrow}} E^1$$

is an \mathbb{R} -bilinear map $\nabla \colon \mathfrak{X}(M) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$ such that $\partial \circ \nabla = \nabla \circ \partial$, that satisfies as usual the Leibniz condition in the second argument, but which is not $C^{\infty}(M)$ -linear in the $\mathfrak{X}(M)$ -entry. Instead, the failure of the $C^{\infty}(M)$ -linearity is measured by the commutator of ∂ with a map $H_{\nabla} \colon C^{\infty}(M) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(\operatorname{End}(E))$, which is \mathbb{R} -linear and local in its entries.

Example 4.1 (Degree-preserving connections are connections up to homotopy). Let $\underline{E} \to M$ be a graded vector bundle of finite rank. Choose for all $z \in \mathbb{Z}$ a linear *A*-connection $\nabla^z : \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(E_z) \to \Gamma(E_z)$. Then the connections define together a connection up to homotopy

$$\mathcal{D}\colon \Omega(A,\underline{E})_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A,\underline{E})_{\bullet+1}$$

by $\mathcal{D}(\omega) = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla^z} \omega \in \Omega^{\bullet+1}(A, E_z)$ for $\omega \in \Omega^{\bullet}(A, E_z)$.

Example 4.2 (2-connections in more detail). Take $\underline{E} = E_0[0] \oplus E_1[1]$ over M and $A \to M$ a Lie algebroid. Then a 2-connection

$$\mathcal{D}\colon \Omega(A,\underline{E})_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A,\underline{E})_{\bullet+1}$$

is completely defined by its values

$$\mathcal{D}(e_0) \in \Omega^1(A, E_0) \oplus \Omega^0(A, E_1)$$
 and $\mathcal{D}(e_1) \in \Omega^1(A, E_1) \oplus \Omega^2(A, E_0)$

for arbitrary $e_0 \in \Gamma(E_0)$ and $e_1 \in \Gamma(E_1)$. It is easy to check that

1

$$\mathcal{D}(e_0) = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla^0} e_0 + \partial(e_0)$$
 and $\mathcal{D}(e_1) = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla^1} e_1 + K(e_1)$

for $\nabla^i \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(E_i) \to \Gamma(E_i)$ linear connections, i = 0, 1, a vector bundle morphism $\partial \colon E_0 \to E_1$ over the identity, i.e. $\partial \in \Omega^0(A, \operatorname{Hom}(E_0, E_1))$, and $K \in \Omega^2(A, \operatorname{Hom}(E_1, E_0))$.

In general, connections up to homotopy can be described as follows.

Proposition 4.3. Let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid and let $\underline{E} \to M$ be a graded vector bundle of finite rank. Then a connection up to homotopy

$$\mathcal{D}\colon \Omega(A,\underline{E})_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A,\underline{E})_{\bullet+1}$$

can always be written

$$\mathcal{D} = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} + \widehat{D}$$

with a linear connection $\nabla \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(\underline{E}) \to \Gamma(\underline{E})$ that preserves the grading as in Example 4.1, and $D \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_1$. The connection ∇ and the form D can even be chosen such that

$$D \in \bigoplus_{s \neq 1} \Omega^s (A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E})_{1-s}).$$

Proof. Take any degree-preserving connection $\nabla \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(\underline{E}) \to \Gamma(\underline{E})$ as in Example 4.1. Then $\mathcal{D} - \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} \colon \Omega(A, \underline{E})_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A, \underline{E})_{\bullet+1}$ is easily seen to be graded $\Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ -linear. Hence $\mathcal{D} - \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} = \widehat{D}$ for a $D \in \Omega(A, \underline{\mathrm{End}}(\underline{E}))_1$.

Now write $D = \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}} D_s \in \bigoplus_{s \in \mathbb{Z}} \Omega^s(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E})_{1-s})$. Then $D_1 \in \Omega^1(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E})_0)$ and so $\nabla' := \nabla + D_1$ is a new connection on \underline{E} that preserves the grading, such that $\mathcal{D} = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla'} + \widehat{D} = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla'} + \widehat{D} - D_1$. \Box

Finally, a connection up to homotopy of A on \underline{E} defines an induced connection up to homotopy

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{End}} \colon \Omega(A, \underline{\mathrm{End}}(\underline{E}))_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A, \underline{\mathrm{End}}(\underline{E}))_{\bullet+1}$$

of A on $\underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E})$ by

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{End}}(\tilde{K}) = \mathcal{D} \circ \tilde{K} - (-1)^{|K|} \tilde{K} \circ \mathcal{D}$$

for all $K \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_{\bullet}$ and $e \in \Gamma(\underline{E})$. That is, as before,

(13) $[\mathcal{D}, \widehat{K}] := \mathcal{D} \circ \widehat{K} - (-1)^{|K|} \widehat{K} \circ \mathcal{D} = \widehat{\mathcal{D}_{\text{End}} K}$

for all $K \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_{\bullet}$. More generally, if \mathcal{D} is a connection up to homotopy of A on \underline{E} and \mathcal{D}' is a connection up to homotopy of A on $\underline{E'}$, then define the induced connection up to homotopy

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{Hom}} \colon \Omega(A, \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}(\underline{E}, \underline{E'}))_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A, \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}(\underline{E}, \underline{E'}))_{\bullet+1}$$

of A on $\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\underline{E},\underline{E'})$ by

$$\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{Hom}}(K)} = \mathcal{D}' \circ \widehat{K} - (-1)^{|K|} \widehat{K} \circ \mathcal{D}$$

for all $K \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\underline{E}, \underline{E'}))_{\bullet}$.

As in the case of superconnections, this yields the following lemma [35], see also [31].

Lemma 4.4. In the situation above,

(14)
$$\widehat{\operatorname{str}} \circ \mathcal{D}_{\operatorname{End}} = \mathbf{d}_A \circ \widehat{\operatorname{str}}.$$

Proof. Write the connection up to homotopy \mathcal{D} as in Proposition 4.3 as

$$\mathcal{D} = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} + \widehat{D}$$

with $\nabla \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(\underline{E}) \to \Gamma(\underline{E})$ a linear connection that preserves the grading, and $D \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_1$. Then for $K \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_{\bullet}$:

$$\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{\text{End}}K} = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} \circ \widehat{K} + \widehat{D} \circ \widehat{K} - (-1)^{|K|} \widehat{K} \circ \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} - (-1)^{|K|} \widehat{K} \circ \widehat{D} = \widehat{\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\text{End}}K}} + [\widehat{D,K}].$$

This yields $\mathcal{D}_{End}K = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{End}}K + [D, K]$ and so by (11)

(15)
$$\widehat{\operatorname{str}}\left(\mathcal{D}_{\operatorname{End}}K\right) = \widehat{\operatorname{str}}\left(\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\operatorname{End}}}K\right).$$

The connection $\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\text{End}}}$ and the flat connection $\mathbf{d}_A \colon \Omega^{\bullet}(A) \to \Omega^{\bullet+1}(A)$ yield as before the connection $\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\text{Hom}}} \colon \Omega(A, \underline{\text{Hom}}(\underline{\text{End}}(\underline{E}), \mathbb{R}))_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A, \underline{\text{Hom}}(\underline{\text{End}}(\underline{E}), \mathbb{R}))_{\bullet+1}$. Equation (15) and the proof of Lemma 2.1 now give

$$\mathbf{d}_A \circ \widehat{\operatorname{str}} - \widehat{\operatorname{str}} \circ \mathcal{D}_{\operatorname{End}} = \mathbf{d}_A \circ \widehat{\operatorname{str}} - \widehat{\operatorname{str}} \circ \mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\operatorname{End}}} = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\operatorname{Hom}}} \operatorname{str} = 0.$$

4.3. Curvature of a connection up to homotopy, and Pontryagin characters. Now if \mathcal{D} is a connection up to homotopy of A on \underline{E} , then (12) implies immediately

$$\mathcal{D}^2(\omega \wedge \eta) = \omega \wedge \mathcal{D}^2 \eta = (-1)^{2|\omega|} \omega \wedge \mathcal{D}^2 \eta$$

for $\omega \in \Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ and $\eta \in \Omega(A, \underline{E})_{\bullet}$. That is, \mathcal{D}^2 is (graded) $\Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ -linear and there is a unique $R_{\mathcal{D}} \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_2$ with $\mathcal{D}^2 = \widehat{R_{\mathcal{D}}}$. The form $R_{\mathcal{D}} \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_2$ is the **curvature form of** \mathcal{D} .

Of course, an *n*-connection is an *n*-representation if and only if its curvature form vanishes. As before, define $R^i_{\mathcal{D}} \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_{2i}$ by

$$\widehat{R^i_{\mathcal{D}}} = \widehat{R_{\mathcal{D}}}^i = \mathcal{D}^{2i}$$

for $i \geq 1$. The Bianchi identity

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{End}}R^i_{\mathcal{D}} = 0$$

then holds for all $i \ge 1$ since

(16)

$$\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{\text{End}}R_{\mathcal{D}}^{i}} = [\mathcal{D}, \widehat{R_{\mathcal{D}}^{i}}] = [\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{D}^{2i}] = \mathcal{D}^{2i+1} - (-1)^{2i}\mathcal{D}^{2i+1} = 0.$$

As a consequence, the curvature form $R_{\mathcal{D}}$ satisfies

$$\mathbf{d}_A(\widehat{\operatorname{str}}(R^i_{\mathcal{D}})) \stackrel{(14)}{=} \widehat{\operatorname{str}}(\mathcal{D}_{\operatorname{End}}(R^i_{\mathcal{D}})) \stackrel{(16)}{=} 0$$

for all $i \geq 1$.

Example 4.5. In the situation of Example 4.1, it is easy to see that for each $i \ge 1$

$$R_{\mathcal{D}}^{i} = \sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} R_{\nabla^{z}}^{i} \in \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} \Omega^{2i}(A, \operatorname{End}(E_{z})) \subseteq \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_{2i}$$

In this case, all the results follow easily from the considerations in §2.3, and

$$\widehat{\operatorname{str}}(R^i_{\mathcal{D}}) = \sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^z \widehat{\operatorname{tr}}(R^i_{\nabla^z})$$

which is obviously a \mathbf{d}_A -closed element of $\Omega^{2i}(A)$ by (7). This is already observed in [35] in the context of superconnections.

Now one can construct as before the Pontryagin algebras defined by the powers of the curvature form.

Proposition 4.6. Choose a graded vector bundle \underline{E} of finite rank over a smooth manifold M, and a Lie algebroid A over M. Then the cohomology classes

$$\left[\widehat{\operatorname{str}}(R^i_{\mathcal{D}})\right] \in H^{2i}(A)$$

do not depend on the choice of the connection up to homotopy \mathcal{D} on \underline{E} .

As observed in [31], the proof of Proposition 4.6 follows the standard techniques, exactly as done in [35] in the situation of superconnections. For the convenience of the reader, it is carried out in detail in Appendix A.

Definition 4.7. Choose a graded vector bundle \underline{E} of finite rank over a smooth manifold M, and a Lie algebroid A over M. Then the A-Pontryagin algebra of the graded vector bundle \underline{E}

$$\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{\bullet}(\underline{E}) \subseteq H^{\bullet}(A)$$

is the subalgebra generated by the A-Pontryagin characters of \underline{E}

$$\sigma_A^i(\underline{E}) := \left[\widehat{\operatorname{str}}(R_{\mathcal{D}}^i)\right] \in H^{2i}(A), \quad i \ge 1,$$

defined by any choice of connection up to homotopy \mathcal{D} of A on \underline{E} .

Here also, it is easy to show using Example 4.1 and Proposition 4.6 that

$$\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{\bullet}(\underline{E}) = \rho^{\star} \operatorname{Pont}^{\bullet}(\underline{E}).$$

As usual, $\operatorname{Pont}^{\bullet}(\underline{E})$ denotes the *TM*-Pontryagin algebra of \underline{E} .

Remark 4.8. This paper does not define *Pontryagin classes* of a graded vector bundle as images of special invariant polynomials under a suitable Chern-Weil homomorphism – this is not needed for the obstruction theorems below. However, consider a graded vector bundle $\underline{E} = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} E_z[z]$ and set $\underline{V} := \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}^{\operatorname{rank} E_z}[z]$, a (finite dimensional) graded \mathbb{R} -vector space. Set $\mathcal{A}(\underline{V}) \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\underline{\mathfrak{gl}}(\underline{V}))$ to be the subalgebra of polynomials that is generated by the polynomials

$$\phi \mapsto \operatorname{str}(\phi^l),$$

for $l \geq 1$. Then there is an obvious Chern-Weil homomorphism $\mathcal{A}(\underline{V}) \to \operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{\bullet}(\underline{E})$ of \mathbb{R} -algebras, but $\mathcal{A}(\underline{V})$ cannot be understood as a subalgebra of the $\underline{\operatorname{Gl}}(\underline{V})$ invariant polynomials on $\mathfrak{gl}(\underline{V})$ since for $\phi \in \mathfrak{gl}(\underline{V})$, $A \in \underline{\operatorname{Gl}}(\underline{V})$ and $l \geq 1$:

$$\operatorname{str}((A\phi A^{-1})^l) = (-1)^{|A|+l|\phi|\cdot|A|} \operatorname{str}(\phi^l)$$

by (10).

Example 4.9. In the situation of Example 4.2,

$$\mathcal{D}\colon \Omega(A, E_0[0] \oplus E_1[1])_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A, E_0[0] \oplus E_1[1])_{\bullet+1}$$

equals

$$\mathcal{D} = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} + \widehat{\partial} + \widehat{\omega}$$

with $\nabla \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(\underline{E}) \to \Gamma(\underline{E})$ a linear connection that preserves the degree, $\partial \in \Gamma(\operatorname{Hom}(E_0, E_1)) = \Omega^0(A, \operatorname{End}(\underline{E})_1)$ and $\omega \in \Omega^2(A, \operatorname{Hom}(E_1, E_0)) = \Omega^2(A, \operatorname{End}(\underline{E})_{-1})$. Then

$$\mathcal{D}^{2} = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla}^{2} + \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} \circ \widehat{\partial} + \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} \circ \widehat{\omega} + \widehat{\partial} \circ \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} + \widehat{\partial} \circ \widehat{\omega} + \widehat{\omega} \circ \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} + \widehat{\omega} \circ \widehat{\partial}$$

$$= \mathbf{d}_{\nabla}^{2} + \left[\mathbf{d}_{\nabla}, \widehat{\partial}\right] + \left[\mathbf{d}_{\nabla}, \widehat{\omega}\right] + \left[\widehat{\partial}, \widehat{\omega}\right] = \widehat{R_{\nabla}} + \widehat{\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\mathrm{End}}}} \partial + \widehat{\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\mathrm{End}}}} \omega + [\widehat{\partial}, \omega].$$

In this equation, $R_{\nabla} + [\partial, \omega] \in \Omega^2(A, \operatorname{End}(\underline{E})_0)$, $\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\operatorname{End}}} \partial \in \Omega^1(A, \operatorname{End}(\underline{E})_1)$ and $\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\operatorname{End}}} \omega \in \Omega^3(A, \operatorname{End}(\underline{E})_{-1})$. This shows that the 2-connection is a 2-representation if and only if [2, 17]

$$R_{\nabla^0} + \omega \circ \partial = 0, \quad R_{\nabla^1} + \partial \circ \omega = 0, \quad \nabla^1 \circ \partial = \partial \circ \nabla^0 \text{ and } \mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\operatorname{End}}} \omega = 0.$$

The form $\operatorname{str}(\mathcal{D}^2)$ is

$$\widehat{\operatorname{str}}(R_{\nabla} + [\partial, \omega]) = \widehat{\operatorname{tr}}(R_{\nabla^0} + \omega \circ \partial) - \widehat{\operatorname{tr}}(R_{\nabla^1} + \partial \circ \omega).$$

The form $\widehat{\operatorname{str}}(\mathcal{D}^4)$ is the graded trace of

 $R_{\nabla}^{2} + R_{\nabla} \wedge [\partial, \omega] + [\partial, \omega] \wedge R_{\nabla} + [\partial, \omega]^{2} + (\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\mathrm{End}}}\partial) \wedge (\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\mathrm{End}}}\omega) + (\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\mathrm{End}}}\omega) \wedge (\mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\mathrm{End}}}\partial),$ etc.

4.4. Application: Obstructions to the existence of an *n*-representation. Example 4.1 shows that a degree-preserving linear A-connection on \underline{E} is an example of an A-connection up to homotopy on \underline{E} . Choose a graded vector bundle \underline{E} of finite rank k over a smooth manifold M, and a Lie algebroid A over M, and set $E := \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} E_z$. If \underline{E} is concentrated in even degrees, then by Proposition 4.6 and Example 4.5, the Pontryagin characters satisfy

$$\sigma_A^i(\underline{E}) = \sigma^i(E)$$

for all $i \geq 1$. If <u>E</u> has grading in odd degrees only,

$$\sigma_A^i(\underline{E}) = -\sigma_A^i(E) \in H^{\bullet}(A),$$

for all $i \geq 1$. That is, the Pontryagin algebra of the graded vector bundle <u>E</u> is then just the Pontryagin algebra of the vector bundle <u>E</u> obtained by forgetting the grading on <u>E</u>.

This shows that Pontryagin algebras of graded vector bundles only lead to new information if the grading is on mixed odd and even degrees. In general, Proposition 4.6, Example 4.1 and Example 4.5 lead to the following formula.

Corollary 4.10. Let $\underline{E} = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} E_z$ be a graded vector bundle of finite rank over a smooth manifold M, and let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid. Then for $l \ge 1$, the A-Pontryagin character $\sigma_A^l(\underline{E})$ of \underline{E} equals

(18)
$$\sigma_A^l(\underline{E}) = \sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^z \sigma_A^l(E_z) \quad \in H^{2l}(A).$$

Proof. Choose linear connections $\nabla \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(E_z) \to \Gamma(E_z)$ for each $z \in \mathbb{Z}$ and let \mathcal{D} be the induced connection up to homotopy of A on \underline{E} as in Example 4.1. Then by Proposition 4.6 and Example 4.5:

$$\sigma_A^l(\underline{E}) = \left[\widehat{\operatorname{str}}(R_{\mathcal{D}}^l)\right] = \sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^z \left[\widehat{\operatorname{tr}}(R_{\nabla^z}^l)\right] = \sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^z \sigma_A^l(E_z).$$

Remark 4.11. Using the formula in the last corollary, it is again easy to show that $\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{l}(\underline{E}) \neq 0$ implies l = 4z for some $z \in \mathbb{N}$.

Corollary 4.10 gives a necessary condition for the existence of an *n*-representation on a given graded vector bundle $\underline{E} = E_0[0] \oplus \ldots \oplus E_{n-1}[n-1]$.

Theorem 4.12. Let $\underline{E} = E_0[0] \oplus \ldots \oplus E_{n-1}[n-1]$ be a graded vector bundle over a smooth manifold M, and let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid. If there exists an nrepresentation \mathcal{D} of A on \underline{E} , then the A-Pontryagin characters $\sigma_A^l(E_i)$, l > 1, of the vector bundles E_i , $i = 0, \ldots, n-1$, satisfy the equations

(19)
$$\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} (-1)^i \sigma_A^l(E_i) = 0 \in H^{2l}(A)$$

for all l > 1.

Proof. Since there is an *n*-connection \mathcal{D} with $\mathcal{D}^2 = 0$, the left-hand side of (18) vanishes.

Theorem 4.13. Let E and F be smooth vector bundles over M, and let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid. If there is a 2-representation of A on $E[0] \oplus F[1]$, then

$$\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{\bullet}(E) = \operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{\bullet}(F) \subseteq H^{\bullet}(A).$$

More precisely, the A-Pontryagin classes of E equals the A-Pontryagin classes of F.

Proof. In this case, (19) yields immediately

$$\sigma^l_A(E) = \sigma^l_A(F)$$

for all $l \ge 1$. Therefore, since the generators of the Pontryagin algebras are equal, the Pontryagin algebras and the Pontryagin classes of E and F must be equal. \Box

The reader acquainted with the equivalence of decomposed VB-algebroids with 2-representations [17], and of decomposed double Lie algebroids with matched pairs of 2-representations [16] might find interesting the two following corollaries of Theorem 4.13.

Corollary 4.14. Let B and C be smooth vector bundles over M, and let $(A \to M, \rho, [\cdot, \cdot])$ be a Lie algebroid. If there is a VB-algebroid $(D \to B, A \to M)$ with core C, then the total Pontryagin classes coincide:

$$p_A(B) = p_A(C) \in H^{\bullet}(A).$$

That is, $\rho^* p^l(B) = \rho^* p^l(C)$ for all $l \ge 1$.

Corollary 4.15. Let C be a smooth vector bundle over M, and let $A \to M$ and $B \to M$ be two Lie algebroids. If there is a double Lie algebroid (D, A, B, M) with core C, then

$$p_A(C) = p_A(B) \in H^{\bullet}(A), \quad and \quad p_B(C) = p_B(A) \in H^{\bullet}(B).$$

4.4.1. Example: the double 2-representation defined by a connection. Let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid and E a vector bundle over M. Then any linear A-connection $\nabla \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$ defines as follows a representation up to homotopy of A on $E[0] \oplus E[1]$, see [2, 17]. The operator

$$\mathcal{D}\colon \Omega(A, E[0] \oplus E[1])_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A, E[0] \oplus E[1])_{\bullet+1}$$

is defined by

$$\mathcal{D}(e_0) = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla}(e_0) + e_0 \in \Omega^1(A, E[0]) \oplus \Omega^0(A, E[1])$$

for $e_0 \in \Omega^0(A, E[0]) = \Gamma(E[0])$, and

$$\mathcal{D}(e_1) = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla}(e_1) - \widehat{R_{\nabla}}(e_1) \in \Omega^1(A, E[1]) \oplus \Omega^2(A, E[0])$$

for $e_1 \in \Omega^0(A, E[1]) = \Gamma(E[1])$. Here, R_{∇} is seen as an element of $\Omega^2(A, \operatorname{Hom}(E[1], E[0])) \subseteq \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_1$. It is easy to check that $\mathcal{D}^2 = 0$ – use (17) in Example 4.9 with $\omega = -R_{\nabla} \in \Omega^2(A, \operatorname{Hom}(E[1], E[0]))$ and $\partial = \operatorname{id}_E : E[0] \to E[1]$. This representation up to homotopy is called the *double representation up to homotopy* of A on E [2, 17].

Let $K \subseteq E$ be a vector subbundle. Take an A-connection ∇^K on K and an A-connection $\bar{\nabla}$ on E/K. Then $K \oplus E/K \simeq E$ and the sum $\nabla^K + \bar{\nabla}$ defines an A-connection on E. The A-Pontryagin characters of E, K and E/K satisfy

$$\sigma_A^i(E) = \sigma_A^i(K) + \sigma_A^i(E/K) \in H^{2i}(A)$$

for $i \ge 0$. This is usually formulated as $p_A(E) = p_A(K) \wedge p_A(E/K)$ (see e.g. [33, 40]). In other words the generators of Pont[•]_A(E/K) are given by

(20)
$$\sigma_A^i(E/K) = \sigma_A^i(E) - \sigma_A^i(K) \in H^{2i}(A)$$

for $i \geq 0$. Likewise, the linear A-connections on K and on E define together a 2connection \mathcal{D} of A on $K[0] \oplus E[1]$. Hence, the A-Pontryagin characters of $K[0] \oplus E[1]$ are

(21)
$$\widehat{\operatorname{str}}(R^i_{\mathcal{D}}) = \sigma^i_A(K) - \sigma^i_A(E) \in H^{2i}(A)$$

for $i \geq 0$. Up to a sign, they equal the generators of $\operatorname{Pont}_A^{\bullet}(E/K)$. This yields the following proposition.

Proposition 4.16. Let $E \to M$ be a smooth vector bundle, and let A be a Lie algebroid over M. Let $K \subseteq E$ be a vector subbundle of E. Then

(22)
$$\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{\bullet}(K[0] \oplus E[1]) = \operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{\bullet}(E/K).$$

4.4.2. Example: the adjoint 2-representation of a Lie algebroid. Let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid with anchor ρ and Lie bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]$. Then any choice of linear connection $\nabla \colon \mathfrak{X}(M) \times \Gamma(A) \to \Gamma(A)$ defines as follows a representation up to homotopy of A on $A[0] \oplus TM[1]$, see [2, 17]. The operator

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{ad}}: \Omega(A, A[0] \oplus TM[1])_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A, A[0] \oplus TM[1])_{\bullet+1}$$

is defined by

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{ad}}(a) = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\mathrm{bas}}}(a) + \rho(a) \in \Omega^1(A, A[0]) \oplus \Omega^0(A, TM[1])$$

for $a \in \Omega^0(A, A[0]) = \Gamma(A)$, and

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{ad}}(X) = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\mathrm{bas}}}(X) - \widehat{R^{\mathrm{bas}}_{\nabla}}(X) \in \Omega^1(A, TM[1]) \oplus \Omega^2(A, A[0])$$

for $X \in \Omega^0(A, TM[1]) = \mathfrak{X}(M)$. Here, $R_{\nabla}^{\text{bas}} \in \Omega^2(A, \text{Hom}(X, A))$ is defined by

$$R_{\nabla}^{\mathrm{bas}}(a,b)X = -\nabla_X[a,b] + [\nabla_X a,b] + [a,\nabla_X b] + \nabla_{\nabla_b^{\mathrm{bas}}X}a - \nabla_{\nabla_a^{\mathrm{bas}}X}b$$

for $a, b \in \Gamma(A)$ and $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$, and the two basic connections

 $\nabla^{\mathrm{bas}} \colon \Gamma(A) \times \mathfrak{X}(M) \to \mathfrak{X}(M) \quad \text{ and } \quad \nabla^{\mathrm{bas}} \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(A) \to \Gamma(A)$

are defined by

$$\nabla_a^{\text{bas}} X = [\rho(a), X] + \rho(\nabla_X a), \qquad \nabla_a^{\text{bas}} b = [a, b] + \nabla_{\rho(b)} a$$

for $a, b \in \Gamma(A)$ and $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$. A computation using (17) shows $R_{\mathcal{D}_{ad}} = \mathcal{D}_{ad}^2 = 0$. This representation up to homotopy is called the *adjoint representation up to*

homotopy of A on E [2, 17]. The following result follows from Theorem 4.13

Theorem 4.17. Let A be a vector bundle over a smooth manifold M, and let $\rho: A \to TM$ be a vector bundle morphism over the identity. If $A \to M$ carries a Lie algebroid structure with anchor ρ , then

$$\rho^{\star}\left(p^{l}(A)\right) = \rho^{\star}\left(p^{l}(TM)\right) \in H^{4l}(A)$$

for all $l \geq 1$.

4.4.3. Example: the 2-representations defined by a morphism of Lie algebroids. More generally, let $A \to M$ and $B \to M$ be two Lie algebroids, with a Lie algebroid morphism $\partial: B \to A$ over the identity on M. Then any choice of linear connection $\nabla: \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(B) \to \Gamma(B)$ defines as follows a representation up to homotopy of B on $B[0] \oplus A[1]$ – this was found in the work in preparation [26].

The operator

$$\mathcal{D}\colon \Omega(B, B[0] \oplus A[1])_{\bullet} \to \Omega(B, B[0] \oplus A[1])_{\bullet+1}$$

is defined by

$$\mathcal{D}(b) = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\partial}}(b) + \partial(b) \in \Omega^1(B, B[0]) \oplus \Omega^0(B, A[1])$$

for $b \in \Omega^0(B, B[0]) = \Gamma(B)$, and

$$\mathcal{D}(X) = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla^{\partial}}(a) - \widehat{R_{\nabla}^{\partial}}(a) \in \Omega^{1}(B, A[1]) \oplus \Omega^{2}(B, B[0])$$

for $a \in \Omega^0(B, A[1]) = \Gamma(A)$. Here, $R^{\partial}_{\nabla} \in \Omega^2(A, \operatorname{Hom}(X, A))$ is defined by

$$R^{\partial}_{\nabla}(b_1, b_2)a = -\nabla_a[b_1, b_2] + [\nabla_a b_1, b_2] + [b_1, \nabla_a b_2] + \nabla_{\nabla^{\partial}_{b_2} a} b_1 - \nabla_{\nabla^{\partial}_{b_1} a} b_2$$

for $b_1, b_2 \in \Gamma(B)$ and $a \in \Gamma(A)$, and the two connections

$$\nabla^{\partial} \colon \Gamma(B) \times \Gamma(B) \to \Gamma(B) \quad \text{ and } \quad \nabla^{\partial} \colon \Gamma(B) \times \Gamma(A) \to \Gamma(A)$$

are defined by

$$\nabla^{\partial}_{b_1} b_2 = [b_1, b_2] + \nabla_{\partial b_2} b_1, \qquad \nabla^{\partial}_b a = [\partial(b), a] + \partial(\nabla_a b)$$

for $b_1, b_2 \in \Gamma(B)$ and $a \in \Gamma(A)$. A computation shows $\mathcal{D}^2 = 0$ and so $R_{\mathcal{D}} = 0$. The following result follows then from Theorem 4.13.

Theorem 4.18. Let A and B be Lie algebroids over M. If there is a Lie algebroid morphism $\partial: B \to A$ over the identity on M, then

$$p_B^l(A) = p_B^l(B)$$

for all $l \geq 1$.

Vaisman defines characteristic classes of morphisms of Lie algebroids in [41]; by considering the graphs of these morphisms. The result above does not consider these classes; but it would be interesting to compare the two approaches.

4.5. Bott's vanishing theorem for graded vector bundles. This section proves a more general formulation of Bott's vanishing theorem [6] and of Theorem 3.1, on Lie subalgebroids with *n*-representations.

For $B \subseteq A$ a subalgebroid, the space $\Omega(B, \underline{E})_{\bullet}$ can be (non-canonically) embedded as follows as a $C^{\infty}(M)$ -submodule of $\Omega(A, \underline{E})_{\bullet}$. Fix $C \subseteq A$ a subbundle such that $A = B \oplus C$. Then the $C^{\infty}(M)$ -linear map $i_C \colon \Omega(B, \underline{E})_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A, \underline{E})_{\bullet}$ is defined by

$$i_C(\omega)(a_1,\ldots,a_s) = \omega(b_1,\ldots,b_s)$$

for $\omega \in \Omega^s(B, E_i)$ and $a_j = b_j + c_j \in A = B \oplus C$ for $j = 1, \ldots, s$. In the same manner, $i_C \colon \Omega(B, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_{\bullet}$ is defined.

In addition, the inclusion $\iota \colon B \to A$ induces the $C^{\infty}(M)$ -linear restriction map

 $\iota^\star\colon \Omega(A,\underline{E})_\bullet\to \Omega(B,\underline{E})_\bullet,$

defined by $(\iota^*\omega)(b_1,\ldots,b_s) = \omega(b_1,\ldots,b_s)$ for $\omega \in \Omega^s(A, E_l)$. By construction, $\iota^* \circ i_C = \mathrm{Id}_{\Omega(B,\mathrm{End}(E))}$.

Let now $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid and let $\underline{E} = E_0[0] \oplus \ldots \oplus E_{n-1}[n-1]$ be a graded vector bundle over M. Let k be the rank of \underline{E} . Assume that there is a Lie subalgebroid $B \subseteq A$ of codimension q, with an *n*-representation

$$\mathcal{D}: \Omega(B, \underline{E})_{\bullet} \to \Omega(B, \underline{E})_{\bullet+1}.$$

Then, as in Proposition 4.3, the *n*-representation \mathcal{D} equals $\mathcal{D} = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla} + \widehat{D}$, with a *B*connection on \underline{E} preserving the grading, and a form $D \in \Omega(B, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_1$. Using the second part of Proposition 4.3, without loss of generality D has no component in $\Omega^1(B, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E})_0)$. Extend the *B*-connection ∇ on \underline{E} to an *A*-connection $\widetilde{\nabla}$ on \underline{E} that preserves the grading, and extend the form D to the form $i_C(D) \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_1$, after the choice of a smooth complement C of B in A.

Then

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} = \mathbf{d}_{\widetilde{\nabla}} + \widehat{i_C(D)} \colon \Omega(A, \underline{E})_{\bullet} \to \Omega(A, \underline{E})_{\bullet+1}$$

is an *n*-connection of A on \underline{E} . Take $\omega \in \Omega^{s}(A, E_{l})$. Then

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(\omega) = \sum_{i=0}^{\operatorname{rank} A} (\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}\omega)_i \in \bigoplus_{i=0}^{\operatorname{rank} A} \Omega^i(A, E_{s+l+1-i})$$

and easy computations yield the following identities:

• For i = s + 1:

$$(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}\omega)_i(b_1,\ldots,b_i) = (\mathbf{d}_{\widetilde{\nabla}}\omega)(b_1,\ldots,b_i) = \mathbf{d}_{\nabla}(\iota^*\omega)(b_1,\ldots,b_i)$$
$$= (\mathcal{D}(\iota^*\omega))_i(b_1,\ldots,b_i)$$

for $b_1, \ldots, b_i \in \Gamma(B)$, and

• For $i \neq s+1$: $(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}\omega)_i(b_1,\ldots,b_i) = (\widehat{i_C(\mathcal{D})}\omega)_i(b_1,\ldots,b_i) = (\widehat{\mathcal{D}}(\iota^*\omega))_i(b_1,\ldots,b_i)$ $= (\mathcal{D}(\iota^*\omega))_i(b_1,\ldots,b_i)$

for $b_1, \ldots, b_i \in \Gamma(B)$.

This proves $\iota^* \circ \widetilde{\mathcal{D}} = \mathcal{D} \circ \iota^*$ and as a consequence $\iota^* \circ \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^2 = \mathcal{D}^2 \circ \iota^*$. Therefore, the equality $\mathcal{D}^2 = 0$ yields $\iota^*(R_{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}}) = \iota^*(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^2) = 0$. That is,

$$R_{\tilde{\mathcal{D}}} \in \left(I^{\bullet}(B) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(M)} \Gamma(\operatorname{End}(\underline{E}))\right)_{2} = \bigoplus_{j \geq 1} I^{j}(B) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(M)} \Gamma(\operatorname{End}(\underline{E})_{2-j}),$$

and so

$$R^{l}_{\tilde{\mathcal{D}}} \in (I^{\bullet}(B))^{l} \otimes_{C^{\infty}(M)} \Gamma(\operatorname{End}(\underline{E}))$$

for all $l \geq 1$. This yields $R_{\tilde{D}}^l = 0$ for l > q, and, as in the classical case, the following theorem.

Theorem 4.19. Let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid and let $\underline{E} = E_0[0] \oplus \ldots \oplus E_{n-1}[n-1]$ be a graded vector bundle over M. Assume that there is a Lie subalgebroid $B \subseteq A$ of codimension q, with an n-representation

$$\mathcal{D}\colon \Omega(B,\underline{E})_{\bullet} \to \Omega(B,\underline{E})_{\bullet+1}.$$

Then the A-Pontryagin spaces of the graded vector bundle \underline{E}

$$\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{l}(\underline{E}) \subseteq H^{l}(A)$$

all vanish for l > 2q.

Example 4.20. Let $E \to M$ be a smooth vector bundle, and let A be a Lie algebroid over M. Let $K \subseteq E$ be a vector subbundle of E and let $B \subseteq A$ be a subalgebroid. Consider a linear A-connection ∇ on E, that preserves K. Define the linear B-connection $\overline{\nabla} \colon \Gamma(B) \times \Gamma(E/K) \to \Gamma(E/K)$ by $\overline{\nabla}_b \overline{e} = \overline{\nabla_b e}$ for all $b \in \Gamma(B)$ and $e \in \Gamma(E)$, where $\overline{e} \in \Gamma(E/K)$ is the class of the section e.

The connection $\overline{\nabla}$ is flat if and only if the 2-representation of A on $E[0] \oplus E[1]$ defined by ∇ as in §4.4.1 restricts to a 2-representation of B on $K[0] \oplus E[1]$; see [14]. Then, by Theorem 4.19,

$$\operatorname{Pont}_{A}^{l}(K[0] \oplus E[1]) \subseteq H^{l}(A)$$

all vanish for l > 2q. By (22), this is a reformulation in the graded setting of Theorem 3.1 applied to $B \subseteq A$ and the flat connection $\overline{\nabla}$ on E/K.

5. INFINITESIMAL IDEAL SYSTEMS AND PONTRYAGIN CLASSES

The main motivation for the results above was the search for obstructions to the existence of infinitesimal ideal systems in a given Lie algebroid, in terms of the A and TM-Pontryagin classes of A and TM. This section first recalls some of the main examples of infinitesimal ideal systems. Then the first and second subsections present the obtained obstructions.

Recall that infinitesimal ideal systems are defined as in the Definition on Page 4. The three main classes of examples of infinitesimal ideal systems are the following.

Example 5.1 (The usual notion of ideals in Lie algebroids). An ideal I in a Lie algebroid $A \to M$ is a subbundle over M such that $[a, i] \in \Gamma(I)$ for all $i \in \Gamma(I)$ and all $a \in \Gamma(A)$. The inclusion $I \subseteq \ker(\rho)$ follows immediately and shows that this definition of an ideal is very restrictive. These ideals, called here *naive ideals*, correspond obviously to the ideal systems $(F_M = 0, J = I, \nabla = 0)$ in A. In particular, an ideal in a Lie algebra is an infinitesimal ideal system.

25

Example 5.2 (The Bott connection). Consider an involutive subbundle $F_M \subseteq TM$ and the Bott connection

$$\nabla^{F_M} \colon \Gamma(F_M) \times \Gamma(TM/F_M) \to \Gamma(TM/F_M), \quad \nabla^{F_M}_X \bar{Y} = \overline{[X,Y]}$$

associated to it. Then it is straightforward to check that the triple (F_M, F_M, ∇^{F_M}) is an infinitesimal ideal system in the Lie algebroid TM.

Example 5.3 (The ideal system associated to a fibration of Lie algebroids). Let



be a fibration of Lie algebroids, i.e. the map φ_0 is a surjective submersion (with connected fibers) and $\varphi': A \to \varphi'_0 A'$ is a surjective vector bundle morphism over the identity on A.

Then $J := \ker(\varphi) \subseteq A$ is a subalgebroid of A and $F_M = T^{\varphi_0} M \subseteq TM$ is an involutive subbundle. The equality $T\varphi_0 \circ \rho = \rho' \circ \varphi$ yields immediately $\rho(J) \subseteq F_M$.

Define a connection $\nabla^{\varphi} \colon \Gamma(F_M) \times \Gamma(A/J) \to \Gamma(A/J)$ by setting $\nabla^{\varphi}_X \bar{a} = 0$ for all sections $a \in \Gamma(A)$ that are φ -related to some section $a' \in \Gamma(A')$, i.e. such that $\varphi \circ a = a' \circ \varphi_0$. Then the properties of the Lie algebroid morphism (φ, φ_0) imply that $(F_M, J, \nabla^{\varphi})$ is an infinitesimal ideal system in A.

Conversely, up to topological obstructions, a Lie algebroid can be "quotiented out" by an infinitesimal ideal system [27], just as a Lie algebra modulo an ideal gives a new Lie algebra. More precisely let (F_M, J, ∇) be an infinitesimal ideal system in a Lie algebroid A. Assume that $\overline{M} = M/F_M$ is a smooth manifold and that ∇ has trivial holonomy. Then the quotient defined by parallel transport along the leaves of F_M , $(A/J)/\nabla$, inherits a Lie algebroid structure over F/F_M such that the canonical projections $\pi: A \to (A/J)/\nabla$ and $\pi_M: M \to M/F_M$ define a fibration of Lie algebroids [27].

5.1. Pontryagin classes associated to an infinitesimal ideal system. First of all, since an infinitesimal ideal system consists among other ingredients of an involutive subbundle $F_M \subseteq TM$ and a flat F_M -connection on A/J, the following proposition is immediate.

Proposition 5.4. Let (F_M, J, ∇) be an infinitesimal ideal system in a Lie algebroid $A \to M$. Let q be the codimension of F_M in TM. Then the Pontryagin algebras $\operatorname{Pont}^r(A/J)$ and $\operatorname{Pont}^r(TM/F_M)$ are all trivial for r > 2q.

Next, it is easy to see that J is a subalgebroid of A. The Bott connection associated to $J \subseteq A$ is the flat J-connection ∇^J on A defined by

$$\nabla^J \colon \Gamma(J) \times \Gamma(A/J) \to \Gamma(A/J), \quad \nabla^J_i \overline{a} = \overline{[j,a]}$$

for $j \in \Gamma(J)$ and $a \in \Gamma(A)$. In addition, there is a flat J-connection on TM/F_M , defined by

$$\nabla \colon \Gamma(J) \times \Gamma(TM/F_M) \to \Gamma(TM/F_M), \quad \nabla_j \overline{X} = \overline{[\rho(j), X]} = \nabla_{\rho(j)}^{F_M} \overline{X}$$

for $j \in \Gamma(J)$ and $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$. This, Proposition 5.4 and Remark 2.4 yield the following result.

M. JOTZ LEAN

Proposition 5.5. Let (F_M, J, ∇) be an infinitesimal ideal system in a Lie algebroid $A \to M$. Let s be the codimension of J in A. Then the Pontryagin algebras $\operatorname{Pont}_A^r(A/J)$ and $\operatorname{Pont}_A^r(TM/F_M)$ are all trivial for $r > 2\min\{s,q\}$.

Of course, Propositions 5.4 and 5.5 can be refined using Theorem 3.4 and the Atiyah classes defined by extensions of the four flat connections.

5.2. Finer obstructions. The obstructions found above are too "rough" for being really meaningful – the proofs use very little of the structure of infinitesimal ideal systems. This section uses the Pontryagin algebras of graded vector bundles in order to find further (finer!) obstructions to the existence of infinitesimal ideal systems in a given Lie algebroid.

In order to do this, let us recall some results found in [14]. Let $A \to M$ be a Lie algebroid. Let $F_M \subseteq TM$ be an involutive subbundle and let $J \subseteq A$ be a smooth subbundle. Let $\nabla \colon \Gamma(F_M) \times \Gamma(A/J) \to \Gamma(A/J)$ be a flat connection, and let $\tilde{\nabla} \colon \mathfrak{X}(M) \times \Gamma(A) \to \Gamma(A)$ be an extension of ∇ . That is, $\tilde{\nabla}_X j \in \Gamma(J)$ for all $X \in \Gamma(F_M)$ and $j \in \Gamma(J)$ and the induced quotient connection equals ∇ . Recall from §4.4.3 that $\tilde{\nabla}$ defines the two basic connections

$$\tilde{\nabla}^{\mathrm{bas}} \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(A) \to \Gamma(A), \qquad \tilde{\nabla}^{\mathrm{bas}} \colon \Gamma(A) \times \mathfrak{X}(M) \to \mathfrak{X}(M)$$

and the basic curvature $R_{\overline{\nabla}}^{\text{bas}} \in \Omega^2(A, \text{Hom}(TM, A))$ – that is, $\tilde{\nabla}$ defines the adjoint representation $\operatorname{ad}_{\overline{\nabla}}$ as in §4.4.3.

Then (F_M, J, ∇) is an infinitesimal ideal system in A if and only if [14]:

- (1) $\rho(J) \subseteq F_M;$
- (2) The basic connection $\tilde{\nabla}^{\text{bas}} \colon \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(A) \to \Gamma(A)$ preserves J;
- (3) The basic connection $\tilde{\nabla}^{\text{bas}} \colon \Gamma(A) \times \mathfrak{X}(M) \to \mathfrak{X}(M)$ preserves F_M ;
- (4) The basic curvature $R_{\tilde{\nabla}}^{\text{bas}} \in \Omega^2(A, \text{Hom}(TM, A))$ restricts to an element of $\Omega^2(A, \text{Hom}(F_M, J))$.

That is, (F_M, J, ∇) is an infinitesimal ideal system in A if and only if the adjoint 2-representation $\operatorname{ad}_{\tilde{\nabla}}$ of A on $A[0] \oplus TM[1]$ defined by the anchor and the basic connections and curvature restricts to a 2-representation of A on $J[0] \oplus F_M[1]$. Theorem 4.14 yields immediately the following result.

Theorem 5.6. Let $(A \to M, \rho, [\cdot, \cdot])$ be a Lie algebroid. Let $J \subseteq A$ and $F_M \subseteq TM$ be vector subbundles. If F_M is involutive and there is a flat F_M -connection on A/J such that (F_M, J, ∇) is an infinitesimal ideal system, then

$$p_A^l(J) = p_A^l(F_M) \in H^{4l}(A)$$

for all $l \geq 1$.

Example 5.7. Example 5.1 and the last proposition show that if $I \subseteq A$ is an ideal, then Pont[•]_A $(I) = \{0\}$. This is easy to see directly since A is represented on I by the Lie bracket.

In the situation of Example 5.2, the statement of the last proposition is trivial since $J = F_M$. However, Example 5.3 and the last proposition show that if $\varphi: A \to A'$ is a fibration of Lie algebroids over a smooth submersion $f: M \to M'$, then

$$p_A^l(T^f M) = p_A^l(\ker \varphi) \in H^{4l}(A)$$

for all $l \geq 1$.

APPENDIX A. PROOF OF PROPOSITION 4.6

Let \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{D}' be two connections up to homotopy of a Lie algebroid $A \to M$ on a graded vector bundle $\underline{E} = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} E_z[z] \to M$ of finite rank. The difference $\mathcal{D}' - \mathcal{D}$ is graded- $\Omega^{\bullet}(A)$ -linear and there exists an element $D \in \Omega(A, \underline{\operatorname{End}}(\underline{E}))_1$ such that $\mathcal{D}' - \mathcal{D} = \widehat{D}$. For each $t \in [0, 1]$ set $\mathcal{D}_t = \mathcal{D} + t\widehat{D}$. Then \mathcal{D}_t is a connection up to homotopy of A on \underline{E} for all $t \in [0, 1]$, with $\mathcal{D}_0 = \mathcal{D}$ and $\mathcal{D}_1 = \mathcal{D}'$. Its curvature at time t reads $\widehat{R_{\mathcal{D}_t}} = \mathcal{D}_t^2 = (\mathcal{D} + t\widehat{D})^2 = \mathcal{D}^2 + t\left[\mathcal{D}, \widehat{D}\right] + \frac{1}{2}t^2\left[\widehat{D}, \widehat{D}\right]$, which leads to

$$\frac{d}{dt}\widehat{R_{\mathcal{D}_t}} = \left[\mathcal{D}, \widehat{D}\right] + t\left[\widehat{D}, \widehat{D}\right] = \left[\mathcal{D}_t, \widehat{D}\right] \stackrel{(13)}{=} \widehat{\mathcal{D}_{t, \text{End}}D},$$

and so to $\frac{d}{dt}R_{\mathcal{D}_t} = \mathcal{D}_{t,\mathrm{End}}D$. Next, this implies

$$\frac{d}{dt}R^{i}_{\mathcal{D}_{t}} = \sum_{s=1}^{i} R^{(s-1)}_{\mathcal{D}_{t}} \wedge \mathcal{D}_{t,\mathrm{End}} D \wedge R^{i-s}_{\mathcal{D}_{t}}$$

and so

$$\frac{d}{dt}\widehat{\operatorname{str}}\left(R_{\mathcal{D}_{t}}^{i}\right) = i \cdot \widehat{\operatorname{str}}\left(R_{\mathcal{D}_{t}}^{i-1} \wedge \mathcal{D}_{t,\operatorname{End}}D\right) \stackrel{(16)}{=} i \cdot \widehat{\operatorname{str}}\left(\mathcal{D}_{t,\operatorname{End}}\left(R_{\mathcal{D}_{t}}^{i-1} \wedge D\right)\right)$$
$$\stackrel{(14)}{=} i \cdot \mathbf{d}_{A}\left(\widehat{\operatorname{str}}\left(R_{\mathcal{D}_{t}}^{i-1} \wedge D\right)\right).$$

Using this, conclude that

$$\widehat{\operatorname{str}}\left(R_{\mathcal{D}}^{i}\right) - \widehat{\operatorname{str}}\left(R_{\mathcal{D}'}^{i}\right) = \mathbf{d}_{A} \int_{0}^{1} i \cdot \left(\widehat{\operatorname{str}}\left(R_{\mathcal{D}_{t}}^{i-1} \wedge D\right)\right) dt,$$

and so $\widehat{\operatorname{str}}(R^i_{\mathcal{D}})$ and $\widehat{\operatorname{str}}(R^i_{\mathcal{D}'})$ define the same cohomology class in $H^{2i}(A)$.

References

- C. Arias Abad and M. Crainic. The Weil algebra and the Van Est isomorphism. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 61(3):927–970, 2011.
- [2] C. Arias Abad and M. Crainic. Representations up to homotopy of Lie algebroids. J. Reine Angew. Math., 663:91–126, 2012.
- [3] C. Arias Abad, M. Crainic, and B. Dherin. Tensor products of representations up to homotopy. J. Homotopy Relat. Struct., 6(2):239–288, 2011.
- [4] C. Arias Abad and F. Schätz. Deformations of Lie brackets and representations up to homotopy. Indag. Math. (N.S.), 22(1-2):27–54, 2011.
- [5] C. Arias Abad and F. Schätz. The A_{∞} de Rham theorem and integration of representations up to homotopy. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, (16):3790–3855, 2013.
- [6] R. Bott. Lectures on characteristic classes and foliations. Notes by Lawrence Conlon. Appendices by J. Stasheff. Lectures algebraic diff. Topology, Lect. Notes Math. 279, 1-94 (1972)., 1972.
- [7] O. Brahic and C. Ortiz. Integration of 2-term representations up to homotopy via 2-functors. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 372(1):503-543, 2019.
- [8] A. Cabrera, O. Brahic, and C. Ortiz. Obstructions to the integrability of VB-algebroids. J. Symplectic Geom., 16(2):439–483, 2018.
- [9] Z. Chen, M. Stiénon, and P. Xu. From Atiyah classes to homotopy Leibniz algebras. Comm. Math. Phys., 341(1):309–349, 2016.
- [10] M. Crainic. Chern characters via connections up to homotopy. arXiv Mathematics e-prints, page math/0009229, Sep 2000.
- M. Crainic. Connections up to homotopy and characteristic classes. arXiv Mathematics eprints, page math/0010085, Oct 2000.
- [12] M. Crainic, M. A. Salazar, and I. Struchiner. Multiplicative forms and Spencer operators. Math. Z., 279(3-4):939–979, 2015.

M. JOTZ LEAN

- [13] M. Crainic and E. van den Ban. Lecture notes "Analysis on Manifolds", Lectures 10-11. https://www.staff.science.uu.nl/ ban00101/anman2009.html, 2009.
- [14] T. Drummond, M. Jotz Lean, and C. Ortiz. VB-algebroid morphisms and representations up to homotopy. *Differential Geometry and its Applications*, 40:332–357, 2015.
- [15] R. L. Fernandes. Lie algebroids, holonomy and characteristic classes. Adv. Math., 170(1):119– 179, 2002.
- [16] A. Gracia-Saz, M. Jotz Lean, K. C. H. Mackenzie, and R. A. Mehta. Double Lie algebroids and representations up to homotopy. J. Homotopy Relat. Struct., 13(2):287–319, 2018.
- [17] A. Gracia-Saz and R. A. Mehta. Lie algebroid structures on double vector bundles and representation theory of Lie algebroids. Adv. Math., 223(4):1236–1275, 2010.
- [18] E. Hawkins. A groupoid approach to quantization. J. Symplectic Geom., 6(1):61–125, 2008.
- [19] P. J. Higgins and K. Mackenzie. Algebraic constructions in the category of Lie algebroids. J. Algebra, 129(1):194–230, 1990.
- [20] M. Jotz Lean. Dorfman connections and Courant algebroids. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 116:1– 39, 2018.
- [21] M. Jotz Lean. The geometrization of N-manifolds of degree 2. Journal of Geometry and Physics, 133:113 – 140, 2018.
- [22] M. Jotz Lean. On LA-Courant algebroids and Poisson Lie 2-algebroids. Preprint, arXiv:1811.04842, 2018.
- [23] M. Jotz Lean. Dirac groupoids and Dirac bialgebroids. Journal of Symplectic Geometry, 17(1):179–238, 2019.
- [24] M. Jotz Lean. Infinitesimal ideal systems and the Atiyah class. In preparation, 2019.
- [25] M. Jotz Lean. Lie 2-algebroids and matched pairs of 2-representations a geometric approach. Pacific J. Math., 301(1):143–188, 2019.
- [26] M. Jotz Lean and K. C. H. Mackenzie. Transitive double Lie algebroids. In preparation., 2014.
- [27] M. Jotz Lean and C. Ortiz. Foliated groupoids and infinitesimal ideal systems. Indag. Math. (N.S.), 25(5):1019–1053, 2014.
- [28] F. W. Kamber and P. Tondeur. Foliated bundles and characteristic classes. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 493. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1975.
- [29] K. C. H. Mackenzie. General Theory of Lie Groupoids and Lie Algebroids, volume 213 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2005.
- [30] W. S. Massey. Some higher order cohomology operations. In Symposium internacional de topología algebraica International symposium on algebraic topology, pages 145–154. Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México and UNESCO, Mexico City, 1958.
- [31] R. A. Mehta. Lie algebroid modules and representations up to homotopy. Indag. Math. (N.S.), 25(5):1122–1134, 2014.
- [32] R. A. Mehta. Modular classes of Lie groupoid representations up to homotopy. SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl., 11:Paper 058, 10, 2015.
- [33] J. W. Milnor and J. D. Stasheff. *Characteristic classes*. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N. J.; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1974. Annals of Mathematics Studies, No. 76.
- [34] P. Molino. Classes caractéristiques et obstruction d'Atiyah pour les fibrés principaux feuilletés. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B, 272:A1376–A1378, 1971.
- [35] D. Quillen. Superconnections and the Chern character. Topology, 24(1):89–95, 1985.
- [36] Y. Sheng and C. Zhu. Semidirect products of representations up to homotopy. Pacific J. Math., 249(1):211–236, 2011.
- [37] H. Shulman. Secondary obstructions to foliations. *Topology*, 13:177–183, 1974.
- [38] J. Stasheff. Constrained Poisson algebras and strong homotopy representations. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.), 19(1):287–290, 1988.
- [39] G. Trentinaglia and C. Zhu. Some remarks on representations up to homotopy. Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys., 13(3):1650024, 15, 2016.
- [40] L. W. Tu. Differential geometry, volume 275 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, Cham, 2017. Connections, curvature, and characteristic classes.
- [41] I. Vaisman. Characteristic classes of Lie algebroid morphisms. Differential Geom. Appl., 28(6):635–647, 2010.

MATHEMATISCHES INSTITUT, GEORG-AUGUST UNIVERSITÄT GÖTTINGEN. *E-mail address*: madeleine.jotz-lean@mathematik.uni-goettingen.de